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royalblue provides a range of applications known
collectively as Fidessa. 
Fidessa is a world leading solution for trading systems, market data and
global connectivity. Available as a simple workstation or as an integrated
application suite, Fidessa is built on the clear vision of providing the richest
functionality, coverage and distribution to all tiers of the financial community.

Trading Systems
The Fidessa application suite covers a wide range of features targeted at
both buy-side and sell-side clients. The key business benefit is seamless
straight through processing (STP) from order entry to trade confirmation.
With real-time position keeping, exposure and risk monitoring and
program and basket support, Fidessa’s comprehensive functionality is
unrivalled in the marketplace.

Market Data
Core to any trading solution is good quality reference data and timely,
accurate market data. Fidessa provides real-time coverage of global
markets along with supporting information such as news, fundamentals
and charts. Powerful display and analysis tools are incorporated within 
the Fidessa suite providing fully integrated access to this data.

Global Connectivity
The connectivity demands in the marketplace are unrelenting and ever-
expanding. Fidessa’s global network provides connectivity to receive
order-flow from clients, send IOIs, trade on global Exchanges and route
orders to a myriad of destinations including agency-brokers, local DMA
brokers, ECNs, RSPs and algorithmic trading services. 

Delivered through a thin-client Workstation, as a Hosted application suite
or on a bespoke Enterprise basis, Fidessa is the benchmark and product-
of-choice for over a hundred financial institutions throughout Europe, 
North America and Asia.
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Results at
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2005 2004 change

Revenue £74.2m £59.8m +24%

Operating profit £9.6m £8.1m +19%

Pre-tax profit £11.3m £9.8m +15%

Diluted earnings per share 31.0p 22.3p +39%

Dividend per share 10.3p 8.5p +21%

All figures, including comparatives, are presented using IFRS.

Highlights for the year ended 31st December 2005

• Strong organic growth from core products.

• Recurring revenue up 33%, now representing 67% of 

total revenue.

• Consultancy revenue up 22%.

• Encouraging progress with new product initiatives.

Fidessa Recurring Revenue (£m)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

total revenue consultancy recurring

2002 2003 2004 2005



The total Fidessa user base now 
exceeds 8,000 screens.

2

Overview During 2005 we have seen continued strength

within our core business coupled with good

progress in sales resulting from our investment

programmes. This has continued the momentum we

saw in the first-half resulting in an increase in

revenue of 24% over last year. Recurring revenue,

representing annual licence and service fees, has

grown 33% over the year to £49.7m, now

accounting for 67% of total revenue. Consultancy

revenue has also continued to grow, up 22% in the

period. The business has continued to be strongly

cash generative with net cash generated from 

operating activities of £14.1 million.

Looking ahead to 2006, we expect that the core

business will continue to perform strongly, driven 

by the increasing acceptance of Fidessa within the

global markets, new business opportunities and

regulatory changes in all regions. In parallel, we 

will continue with our investment programmes,

increasing the global coverage of our data services,

expanding the connectivity network, extending our

product offerings in the buy-side and adding

derivative functionality across the product set.

Overall, we expect that the strong trading conditions

combined with the sales resulting from our

investment programmes will result in growth levels

for 2006 broadly similar to those we have seen this

year. The amount of work to be completed under

our investment programmes remains substantial and

therefore we do not anticipate any significant change

in the operating margin. We remain excited and

encouraged about the prospects for our expanded

range of products and services and believe that they

will provide a firm foundation for further growth.

The strong progress in the core business has been

reflected in sales of seven enterprise Fidessa

systems and 19 new hosted Fidessa deals. The

total Fidessa user base now exceeds 8,000 screens.

Sales of the core platform are continuing to be

driven by our customers’ need for an industrial

strength trading platform in order to remain

competitive in the current challenging market

conditions coupled with the market leading level 

of functionality offered by Fidessa. Going forward

we see this trend continuing as we extend the

functionality of the core platform. In addition, we

expect that opportunities will be created by the

regulatory changes coming into the markets such 

as Regulation National Market System (RegNMS) in

the US and the Markets in Financial Instruments

Directive (MiFid) in Europe. 

As a result of our ongoing investment programmes

we are starting to see strong progress in new areas

of the market. Our market data business has

continued to expand with coverage of 28 markets

and over 2,500 positions now taking market data

through the Fidessa service. The Fidessa

Connectivity Network has continued to grow

with well in excess of 1,000 connections running

across the network. Our move into the buy-side has

been very encouraging with 21 clients signed since

a standing start in May and a very strong pipeline

developing. We are also very encouraged by the

number and quality of the sell-side firms that are

keen to offer their broking and execution services

through the Fidessa connectivity network and

our buy-side Execution Management (EMS)

product. We feel that this is strong endorsement for

all our connectivity services but particularly for our

EMS product which, we believe, reflects the market

belief that there is a need for a high quality,

independent, multi-broker offering to provide

execution services to the buy-side. 
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Our derivatives initiative remains on schedule to

commence initial deliveries during the first-half of

2006 as we develop the first truly integrated full

functionality system for combined cash and

derivatives trading. We have already signed our first

customer to take the initial deliveries and have a

good pipeline of further prospects for this service.

Results
In the year strong growth in revenue has been

achieved, up 24% to £74.2 million, from £59.8

million last year. This headline growth is supported

by the underlying growth in both recurring and

consultancy revenue. The momentum in the

recurring revenue has been maintained, up 33% at

£49.7 million and now representing 67% of the

total revenue. The improvement seen in consultancy

revenue since the second-half of 2004 has

continued with the revenue up 22% in the year at

£24.1 million, now representing 32% of the overall

revenue. Looking at the breakdown of recurring

revenue across our three areas of focus, indicative

values for 2005 are that £41 million arose from

trading, £7 million arose from connectivity and £2m

arose from market data. It should be noted that

there is a degree of subjectivity in this breakdown as

some services can fall across more than one of these

areas and the breakdown is likely to be refined

further in future periods.

Operating profit has increased to £9.6 million from

£8.1 million in the prior year, an increase of 19%. As

commented in the 2005 Interim Report and the 2004

Annual Report, a reduction in the margin of around 

1 percentage point was to be expected as a result 

of our investment programmes, and the operating

margin is 13.0% compared to 13.5% in 2004. 

The net interest earnings are consistent at 

£1.7 million. In accordance with IAS39 Financial

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 

the interest earnings now includes the capital

repayments on the Touchpaper “B” Loan Notes.

During the year we received £0.5 million of 

capital repayments and £0.3 million of interest

payments from the loan notes, the same as in 

the prior year.

The tax charge for the year has benefited from the

conclusion of enquiries into the treatment of share

options in previous years; this provided a tax credit

of £1.5 million. Excluding this one-off adjustment

for prior years, the effective tax rate is 24%,

compared to 26% in 2004.

The headline diluted earnings per share are 

31.0p, up from 22.3p, an increase of 39%.

However, these numbers include the capital

repayments on the Touchpaper loan note and 

the one-off tax adjustment in respect of prior 

years, neither of which may recur in future years.

Excluding these items, the diluted earnings per

share on a comparable basis are up 20% at 24.8p,

from 20.7p in 2004. The total dividends proposed

for the year are 10.3p compared to 8.5p, an

improvement of 21%. The proposed final dividend

is 7.0p and, if approved by shareholders, will be

paid on 5th June 2006. 

Staff numbers have increased to service the 

revenue growth and the investment programmes.

The average headcount in 2005 was 588, up 21%

from 485 in 2004. The staff numbers at the year

end had increased to 640.
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We expect that the core business will
continue to perform strongly, driven by
the increasing acceptance of Fidessa
within the global markets, new business
opportunities and regulatory changes in
all regions.



4

The business continues to be cash generative 

with £14.1 million net cash generated from

operating activities (2004 £13.1 million). However,

the investment programmes and dividends restrict

the overall cash increase to £1.5 million in the year,

the cash balance at 31st December 2005 being

£26.1 million.

These are the first results that we have reported

using International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRS) and all numbers presented for comparative

periods are also under IFRS. The change to IFRS

results in no change to the revenue recognised or

the cash flows of the business. The primary area of

change is regarding IAS 38 Intangible Assets, which

requires that product development expenditure be

capitalised. We have adopted a policy of capitalising

product developments and enhancements and

amortising the expenditure over three years from

the time of capitalisation. We believe this is a

conservative policy, particularly taking into account

the nature of the recurring revenue we generate

from our products. In the year, this change results 

in expenditure capitalised of £5.4 million and

amortisation of £4.4 million. The other area of

change for royalblue is the expensing of share

incentives to the income statement. This results in a

charge of £0.5 million against operating profit in the

year. A fuller explanation of the transition to IFRS is

presented in the notes to the financial statements.

Lava Patent Lawsuit
In June 2003 we noted the announcement released

by Lava Trading Inc. (Lava) that it had filed a patent

infringement claim in the US against royalblue.

The patent relates to the concept of displaying

prices from more than one source (ECN) on a 

single screen in the US. In December 2003 Lava 

filed an amendment to its lawsuit alleging unfair

trade practices on the part of royalblue, in

particular in relation to the pricing of products 

and associated services. 

In June 2004 we announced that the United States

District Court for the Southern District of New York

had made its ruling on the first stage of the patent

infringement case. This first stage, known as a

Markman claims construction hearing, defines the

technical terms in the patent, which will be used 

in subsequent hearings and is instrumental in

establishing whether patent infringement has

occurred. The ruling confirmed our definition of all

the major terms and strengthens our position that

the case brought by Lava is without merit.

In December 2004 we announced that a Stipulated

Judgment had been entered into the record in the

United States District Court for the Southern District

of New York. This formally recorded that, based on

the findings of the earlier Markman hearing,

royalblue does not infringe Lava’s patent. In both

this announcement and the one in June 2004,

royalblue noted that it expected Lava to lodge an

appeal. Lava lodged the appeal which was heard in

December 2005. A decision by the Appeals Court is

expected shortly.

Employees
On behalf of all royalblue’s shareholders, the Board

would like to extend its sincere thanks to all

employees. The strength of royalblue’s unrivalled

product range is a testament to their skill and

dedication in making royalblue into a truly global

services business.

The Board believes that well constructed and

executed share incentive schemes still form a key

reward and lock-in tool for both employees and
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Strong growth in revenue has been
achieved, up 24% to £74.2 million.
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We are seeing the increasing leverage
between our Fidessa services working 
to drive the business forward.

management. In line with this policy an

Extraordinary General Meeting has been called

requesting the approval of a new employee share

option scheme to replace the one that is due to

expire in the first-half of 2007. In conjunction 

with this new scheme is a proposal for a plan

focused at the senior managers that requires

exceptional performance (an average of 20%

growth per annum over ten years) for all rewards 

to vest. The Board has consulted extensively with

shareholders on the structure of both of these

schemes and has been very encouraged by the

positive contribution the shareholders have made 

in their development. The Board expects both

schemes to be approved at the EGM.

Outlook
Looking ahead we expect that trading will remain

strong into 2006. We anticipate continued increases

in revenue across all product lines and regions

resulting in an overall growth rate similar to that

achieved 2005. We plan to continue our high level

of investment bringing our four major initiatives to

fruition and this is expected to result in the operating

margin remaining at a similar level to that achieved

this year.

Looking further ahead, we are seeing the increasing

leverage between our Fidessa services working 

to drive the business forward and believe that 

each of our key areas of trading, market data and

connectivity will become an important revenue

stream in its own right. We also believe that there

will be a growing trend towards globalisation of order

flow over the next few years and that the services we

are now developing will become an increasingly

unique and valuable commodity providing the

opportunity for further growth in the future.
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We have made good progress with hosted
Fidessa, signing 19 new deals and the total
number of users now using hosted Fidessa
has increased to in excess of 2,100.

Operations
Review

Introduction
During 2005 we have continued to make progress

with all our core services whilst also seeing

encouraging results from the new developments

coming out of our investment programmes. We

have made strong sales of enterprise Fidessa

across the world, including deals with large tier 

one firms which had taken Fidessa on a perpetual

licence basis prior to 2000 and have now moved

across to the latest versions of the software on an

enterprise rental basis. The ability of large firms to

move across to the latest product set is fundamental

to our strategy of providing a complete service

across all tiers of the market and ensuring that 

our largest customers do not have products which

become legacy. In parallel, we have made good

progress with hosted Fidessa, signing 19 new

deals and the total number of users now using

hosted Fidessa has increased to in excess of

2,100. The increase in user numbers has been 

driven by the addition of new users within existing

customers as well as sales of new systems. The

additions at existing customers have typically been

as a result of extensions to the functional line rather

than adding traders to an existing trading desk.

Consultancy has continued to improve across all

regions driven by increased activity in the market 

as well as our growing customer base and this has

resulted in an increase in consultancy revenue of

22% over the previous year.

To cope with the growing demand for our hosted

Fidessa services we have continued the extensions

to our data centres and global network. During

2005 we have introduced two new data centres in

Tokyo, one new data centre in Hong Kong and

relocated one data centre to a larger facility in North

America. In parallel, we have enlarged our primary

data centre in Europe. We have introduced network

capacity between our hubs in Asia and extended

our capacity between Europe and North America.

We plan to continually increase capacity in line with

customer demand and expect to bring additional

network capacity on stream during 2006. We also

plan additional data centre extensions with

additional facilities being brought on line in Hong

Kong and Europe during the first-half. It is expected

that further capacity may be added in Europe later

in 2006.

Throughout all its regions royalblue has a strong

commitment to quality across all its offerings. The

firm is independently certified to ISO 9001 and

during 2005 we have successfully completed a

SAS70 audit. We believe this audit is particularly

important to our US clients in enabling them to

satisfy their Sarbanes Oxley requirements when

using a Fidessa solution.

As a change from previous reports the following

sections describe our progress in the primary areas

in which we provide services, namely Trading,

Connectivity and Market Data. This is as opposed 

to the regional format we have used in the past.

This change reflects the increasingly global nature 

of our business and the fact that many individual

sales now encompass functionality across more 

than one region.

Trading
During 2005 we have seen a strong performance

throughout our trading business with 19 new sales

of our hosted Fidessa service and seven new

enterprise Fidessa deals being signed. Of these

hosted Fidessa deals, 12 are in Europe with the

remainder in North America. The sizes of these

systems range from small scale with only a few

traders to larger scale implementations supporting

over 40 users. With the introduction of the new

hosted facilities in Asia we are starting to offer our

operations review
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To cope with the growing demand for 
our hosted Fidessa services we have
continued the extensions to our data
centres and global network.

customers extensions to their hosted Fidessa

platforms to allow them to trade the Asian markets.

Our data centres in Hong Kong and Tokyo are 

now operational with their first hosted customers

connected to our global network and coupled with

the market data being added for this region, it

allows us to offer the same Fidessa services in 

Asia as we do in the rest of the world.

In Europe the strong markets and growing volumes

have driven sales not only for the core Fidessa

offering, but also for extensions across a whole

range of functionality. These extensions have ranged

from broker and RSP (Retail Service Provider) access

through the Fidessa connectivity network to

support for DMA (Direct Market Access), market

data, VWAP and pairs trading. Going forward, 

we expect these trends to continue as the services

offered by our customers become increasingly

complex to match the demands of their clients. 

We are also seeing changes in the regulatory

landscape with the largest of these being MiFid.

Although there are still details of the rules to be

finalised, MiFid will increase the obligation on

brokers to establish and monitor the way in which

they manage orders and executions. This will make

it much harder for any broker to continue without 

a solution such as Fidessa in place.

We have extended the trading functionality 

within our workstation product with the addition 

of buy-side execution functionality. This product,

which was introduced in Europe in May 2006, 

has made an extremely encouraging start and is

already established at 21 customers. We expect 

to extend this product rapidly, both functionally 

and geographically. The execution management

functionality within the workstation is also 

proving popular with brokers wishing to receive

order flow from the Fidessa connectivity

network and we now have eight brokers across

Asia using it for this purpose.

In North America, the markets continue to move

rapidly with the changing regulatory environment 

as well as structural changes across the markets. 

An increasing number of Fidessa sales in the US

now include support for cross-border order flow 

as well as for the domestic US market. We expect

this to become an increasingly defining feature of

this market as firms compete to identify a unique

proposition that they can offer on a global basis. 

On the regulatory side there is a substantial change,

with RegNMS, which is expected to come into force

during 2006. The new regulations are designed to

enhance and modernise the regulatory structure 

of the US equity markets with additional rules to

address execution, market access, pricing and

dissemination of market information. Although the

exact implication of these rules is still to become

clear, one aspect of the new execution rules may

have quite a far reaching impact on the market. 

This aspect requires market centres to establish,

maintain and enforce policies to prevent “trade-

throughs”1. This has already had implications for

NYSE, which is the largest market in the US and is

currently floor based, as it would not be protected

by the rule which is intended to apply to fast

electronic markets. In reaction, the central markets

in the US are making an increasing commitment to

technology-focused trading. NYSE is proceeding

with the purchase of ARCA, an electronic market

that has traditionally traded NASDAQ securities,

which will give NYSE a very quick entry into

electronic trading. In a similar move, NASDAQ has

increased its own liquidity with the purchase of

INET, another electronic market. It is also expected

that some other markets, including derivative

markets, may enter the equity trading arena and

offer “protected quotes”2 further fragmenting

1 The execution of an order in its market at a price that is

inferior to a price displayed in another market.

2 The trade through rule applies to the best quote in each

market centre so the best quote is referred to as “protected”.
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liquidity. As with most regulatory changes occurring

within our markets, we expect that RegNMS will

result in increased automation and create trading

opportunities which stimulate demand for further

applications within Fidessa.

In Japan, the strong equity market has contributed

to a 100% increase in exchange transactions. The

record volumes have both put a strain on the

exchanges and generated interest in Fidessa

which, from its US pedigree, is able to process

volumes substantially ahead of the levels typically

seen in Japan. This has directly resulted in a further

tier one Japanese bank signing to take our market

connectivity solution. The strength of Fidessa in

the Asia region has also been seen in Hong Kong

where in addition to the deal we signed with an

Australian bank earlier in the year we have also won

a further enterprise Fidessa customer. As new

customers go live the total volume of order flow

passing though Fidessa systems in the Asian region

is gradually increasing and in the largest market,

Tokyo, we would expect this total to be nearing

20% by the end of 2006. 

We have commenced our development programme

to add support for trading a range of derivative

products through Fidessa alongside the existing

cash product. We believe that the timing for this

initiative is right and that the derivative market is 

set for a period of growth. According to a study

from Aite Group, “Derivatives Management: Ready

for Prime Time?”, industry spending on derivatives

management technology is expected to exceed $7

billion by 2009 as demand for derivatives products

grows. We believe that this will translate into the

requirement for a high quality, industrial strength

trading platform providing the same level of

automation that firms have been used to in the cash

trading side of their business. The combined cash

and derivative platform, developed within Fidessa,

will leverage the enormous investment in our core

software, providing a highly resilient, fast, scalable

and functionally rich platform which will enable 

sell-side firms to reduce the high costs and

inefficiencies associated with the traditional silo

approach. In addition, the growing burden of

compliance and reporting requirements make it

attractive for firms to reduce the number of systems

and, wherever possible, to centralise all the trading

information about their clients’ transactions

irrespective of asset class.

We are seeing the beginning of this move within

our client base as they accommodate new investors,

such as hedge funds and algorithmic traders, who

wish to execute complex strategies that cut across

different asset classes. We also see the exchanges

themselves reacting, with derivative exchanges

considering listing cash product as a result of

RegNMS and ARCA (soon to be part of NYSE)

looking to migrate its derivatives and cash

technology onto the same platform. 

We have already signed our first customer to take

the initial deliveries from our derivatives programme,

which will be rolling out during the first-half, and

have a good pipeline of further prospects for this

new service. Further rollouts will continue throughout

the year as the full multi-asset class product develops.

Market Data
Our market data business has continued to develop

during 2005 as we have increased our market

coverage and extended the functional line of the

workstation product. We now have well over 2,500

market data users spread across over 100 clients. 

Of these over 1,700 are pure workstation users 

operations review

We have commenced our development
programme to add support for trading a
range of derivative products through
Fidessa alongside the existing cash product.
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During 2005 we have seen continued
expansion of the Fidessa connectivity
network with well in excess of 1,000
connections now running across it.

with the remainder taking data integrated with 

their Fidessa trading products. Market data

coverage has been extended to incorporate real-

time data from Athens, Toronto, Johannesburg and

Plus Markets in the UK as well as full support for 

US Level 2 (depth of book). We have also extended

coverage of fundamental data to include corporate

actions, dividends, fundamentals, company

accounts, broker forecast data and historical

charting across Europe and North America. In

preparation for our developments in Asia, we have

added static trading data for 12 Asian markets 

for non-member trading and plan to add real-time

coverage for Osaka and Tokyo during 2006. In line

with our derivatives initiative we will begin supporting

market data for derivatives from Euronext and Eurex

during 2006.

In addition to providing market data to customers 

in Europe, we have extended our market data

services within our US customer base. Traditionally

we supply US market data to hosted Fidessa

customers but enterprise Fidessa customers have

taken data from other sources. During 2005 we

have made market data available to enterprise

Fidessa customers as well and now have the

majority of these customers taking US market 

data directly through our service.

Connectivity
During 2005 we have seen continued expansion of

the Fidessa connectivity network with well in

excess of 1,000 connections now running across it.

This network now runs across all the services we

offer, providing connectivity between the buy-side

and sell-side, between the sell-side and the

exchanges, to the Indication-of-Interest networks, 

to the RSPs and our own remote broking network.

As we have expanded the service we have seen

continuous demand from brokers across a wide

range of locations wishing to join the network to

receive order flow.

In Europe, we continue to have one of the largest

RSP networks with 17 RSPs providing service whilst

the total number of brokers providing remote

execution services over the network has increased 

to over 60. The Fidessa connectivity network

also provides connectivity to the brokers participating

on our EMS workstation and this now stands at 20.

We are particularly pleased with the quality of the

brokers that are participating in this service which

includes many tier one firms such as Merrill Lynch,

Morgan Stanley and Credit Suisse. In January 2006

we announced that Goldman Sachs had joined the

network and that Fidessa clients are now able to

access Goldman’s GSAT® Algorithmic Trading

services as well as route care order flow and

perform DMA trading.

The strength of the Asian markets has stimulated

interest from abroad in trading these markets 

which is driving demand for a high quality 

electronic connectivity service. As we extend our

hosted offerings we are now bringing the Fidessa

connectivity network into this region and already

have our first customers in place routing order flow

across our network into the Asian markets.

The Fidessa connectivity network has been

instrumental in allowing us to sign more customers

who wish to trade through remote memberships

and this now helps to leverage sales of our trading

functionality. We believe this network will continue

to perform an important function in leveraging all

aspects of Fidessa including the new services we

are developing and will help to make these services

available quickly to the widest possible audience.
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Operating profit has increased to £9.6 million, 
an increase of 19%.

Finance
Review

Revenue
In the year strong growth in revenue has been

achieved, up 24% to £74.2 million, from £59.8

million last year. This headline growth is supported

by the underlying growth in both recurring and

consultancy revenue. The momentum in the

recurring revenue has been maintained, up 33% 

at £49.7 million and now representing 67% of the

total revenue. The improvement seen in consultancy

revenue since the second-half of 2004 has

continued with the revenue up 22% in the year at

£24.1 million, now representing 32% of the overall

revenue. Looking at the breakdown of recurring

revenue across our three areas of focus, indicative

values for 2005 are that £41 million arose from

trading, £7 million arose from connectivity and 

£2 million arose from market data. It should be

noted that there is a degree of subjectivity in this

breakdown as some services can fall across more

than one of these areas and the breakdown is 

likely to be refined further in future periods.

Earnings
Operating profit has increased to £9.6 million from

£8.1 million in the prior year, an increase of 19%. As

commented in the 2005 Interim Report and the 2004

Annual Report, a reduction in the margin of around 

1 percentage point was to be expected as a result of

our investment programmes, and the operating

margin is 13.0% compared to 13.5% in 2004. 

The net interest earnings are consistent at 

£1.7 million. In accordance with IAS39 Financial

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the

interest earnings now includes the capital

repayments on the Touchpaper “B” Loan Notes.

During the year we received £0.5 million of capital

repayments and £0.3 million of interest payments

from the loan notes, the same as in the prior year.

Taxation
The tax charge for the year has benefited from the

conclusion of enquiries into the treatment of share

options in previous years; this provided a tax credit

of £1.5 million. Excluding this one-off adjustment

for prior years, the effective tax rate is 24%,

compared to 26% in 2004.

Earnings per share
The headline diluted earnings per share are 31.0p,

up from 22.3p, an increase of 39%. However,

these numbers include the capital repayments on

the Touchpaper loan note and the one-off tax

adjustment in respect of prior years, neither of

which may recur in future years. Excluding 

these items, the diluted earnings per share on a

comparable basis are up 20% at 24.8p, from 

20.7p in 2004. The total dividends proposed 

for the year are 10.3p compared to 8.5p, an

improvement of 21%. The directors propose a 

final dividend for 2005 of 7.0 pence per share

payable on 5th June 2006, with an ex-dividend 

date of 3rd May 2006. The dividend is subject to

approval by shareholders at the Annual General

Meeting and has not been included as a liability 

in these financial statements. 

Cash and treasury
The business continues to be cash generative with

£14.1 million net cash generated from operating

activities (2004 £13.1 million). However, the

investment programmes and dividends restrict 

the overall cash increase to £1.5 million in the year,

the cash balance at 31st December 2005 being

£26.1 million.

Management has a credit policy in place and the

exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing

basis. The Group does not require collateral in

finance review
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The business continues to be cash
generative with £14.1 million net cash
generated from operating activities.

respect of financial assets (except the Touchpaper

‘A’ Loan Notes).

Cash investments are allowed only in liquid

securities and only with major financial institutions

that satisfy certain credit criteria. 

At the balance sheet date, there were no significant

concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure

to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount

of each financial asset.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on

sales, purchases and cash balances that are

denominated in a currency other than Sterling. The

currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily US

dollars, Euros, Japanese Yen and Hong Kong dollars. 

In managing currency risks the Group aims to reduce

the impact on short-term fluctuations on the Group’s

cash inflows and outflows in a foreign currency. The

Group has not entered into hedging contracts for

either cash or net investment positions denominated

in foreign currencies. Over the longer term, however,

permanent changes in foreign exchange would have

an impact on consolidated earnings.

It is estimated that that a general increase of one

percentage point in the value Sterling against other

currencies would have decreased the Group’s profit

before tax by approximately £135,000 for the year

ended 31st December 2005 (2004: £50,000).

International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS)
These are the first results that we have reported

using IFRS and all numbers presented for

comparative periods are also under IFRS. The 

change to IFRS results in no change to the revenue

recognised or the cash flows of the business. 

The primary area of change is regarding IAS 38

Intangible Assets, which requires that product

development expenditure be capitalised. We have

adopted a policy of capitalising product

developments and enhancements and amortising

the expenditure over three years from the time of

capitalisation. We believe this is a conservative policy,

particularly taking into account the nature of the

recurring revenue we generate from our products. 

In the year, this change results in expenditure

capitalised of £5.4 million and amortisation of £4.4

million. The other area of change for royalblue is

the expensing of share incentives to the income

statement. This results in a charge of £0.5 million

against operating profit in the year. A fuller

explanation of the transition to IFRS is presented 

in the notes to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the Company for the year ended 31st December 2005. These will be

laid before the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 25th April 2006.

1 Directors

The serving directors are:

John Hamer (age 46), Chairman

John Hamer joined the Group in January 1983 and has been involved in all aspects of developing the business; software, financial, sales and

marketing and management. He has a BSc. Hons. in Computer Science from Leeds University. He was Chief Executive of the Group between

1992 and July 2001 when the Group had multiple business streams, each with its own Chief Executive. John became Chairman of the Group 

in July 2001 when the Group focused on the Fidessa business by divesting the help desk and call centre software businesses. The Board

considers the Chairman role to be similar to that performed prior to July 2001 when there were multiple businesses and there to be no conflict

with Chris Aspinwall, the Chief Executive, who was already the Chief Executive of the Fidessa business prior to July 2001. John is also

Chairman of Rolfe and Nolan Group Limited, a leading supplier of software to the global derivatives marketplace. He has no other material

business commitments. 

Chris Aspinwall (age 42), Chief Executive 

Chris Aspinwall joined the Group in August 1986 as a software engineer and was appointed to the Board in 1992. He became Chief Executive

of the Fidessa business in 1992 and has grown it to its current world leading position. In July 2001 he became Group Chief Executive. He has

a BSc. Hons. in Computer Science from York University. Chris Aspinwall retires by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and

offers himself for re-election.

Andy Malpass (age 44), Finance Director

Andy Malpass joined the Group in 1995 as Finance Director and has over 20 years experience in the software industry, with both private and

public companies. He has a BA Hons. in Accounting and Finance from Lancaster University and is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of

Management Accountants. 

Ron Mackintosh (age 57), Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Ron Mackintosh was appointed to the Board in June 2004. He was formerly President and Chief Executive of Computer Sciences Corporation

Europe (“CSC”), the European arm of one of the world’s largest IT services companies. During his period at CSC, revenues grew from $180

million to $2.5 billion and the business was turned around from being loss making to generating profits of over $200 million. He was

responsible for the operations throughout Europe with 16,000 employees. More recently Ron has been a director at Gemplus SA, one of the

largest smart card manufacturers, being responsible for a major restructuring and cost reduction programme. Ron is also a Non-Executive

Director of CSR Plc and Chairman of Differentis and Smartstream Limited.

Philip Hardaker (age 58), Independent Non-Executive Director

Philip Hardaker joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director in February 2005. Philip is an experienced Chartered Accountant who served 

20 years as a partner in a major accounting firm in the UK (KPMG). As a partner he was responsible for leading teams providing audit, advisory

and transaction due diligence services to a broad portfolio of clients across a variety of industry sectors. In addition to his client service

responsibilities, Philip held a number of managerial and leadership positions within the practice both in the UK and overseas. Philip served 

as a member of the CBI South East regional council for a number of years and has also held a number of other appointments in the business

support sector in the South East. In addition to his role at the Company, Philip currently acts as an independent business consultant. 

Colin Amies and Alan Neilson both served as directors in the year and resigned in April 2005. Chris Aspinwall retires by rotation at the

forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election. His biography is set out above. 

Directors’ interests in shares and share options in the Company are detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
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2 Principal activities and business review

royalblue provides a range of applications known collectively as Fidessa. It is a world leading solution for trading systems, market data and

global connectivity. Available as a simple workstation or as an integrated application suite, Fidessa is built on the clear vision of providing the

richest functionality, coverage and distribution to all tiers of the financial community. Further details of the Group’s primary markets are stated

in the Overview and Operations Review.

3 Results and dividends

The financial results are shown in the Consolidated Income Statement. A fuller explanation of the results is provided in the Finance Review. 

An interim dividend of 3.3p per ordinary share was paid on 26th September 2005. The directors propose a final dividend of 7.0p per ordinary

share. The final dividend, if approved by shareholders, will be paid on 5th June 2006 to shareholders on the register at the close of business 

on 5th May 2006, with an ex-dividend date of 3rd May 2006.

4 Share capital

Details of the authorised called-up and fully paid share capital of the Company are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

5 Principal shareholders

The following have notified the Company as being interested in 3% or more of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at 

10th February 2006.

Ordinary 10p shares Percentage of issued 

share capital 

Aegon UK plc Group of Companies 1,654,389 5.1%

Legal & General Group Plc 1,649,064 5.0% 

CJ Sharples 1,450,352 4.4%

FMR Corp and Fidelity International Limited 1,444,001 4.4%

Standard Life Investments 1,268,277 3.9%

DA Taylor 1,253,049 3.8%

CJF Aspinwall 1,041,240 3.2%

Lloyds TSB plc 999,622 3.1%

6 Authority to purchase own shares

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 26th April 2005 shareholders approved a general authority for the Company to re-

purchase up to 4,898,651 ordinary shares in the market. This represented 14.99 per cent. of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital at the

time. No purchase of shares has been made pursuant to this authority, and there is no present intention to use such authority, but the directors

consider it desirable that the possibility of making such purchases under appropriate circumstances remains available. It is anticipated that a

similar authority will be requested at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting but this will be limited to a maximum of 10% of the Company’s

issued share capital. The Board intends only to exercise this authority if it believes that it will lead to an increase in earnings per share for the

remaining shareholders.

7 The royalblue group plc Employee Benefit Trust

The royalblue group plc Employee Benefit Trust 1997 is a discretionary trust established for the benefit of royalblue staff. It has an

independent, professional trustee, RBC Trustees (Guernsey) Limited, and is currently financed by advances from the Group. Rights to dividends

have been waived by the trust. The costs of administering the Employee Benefit Trust are charged to the Income Statement as incurred. The

trust acquired its shares in the Company for use in connection with the Company’s Performance Related Share Plan at the time of the placing

for the flotation in June 1997. In addition, the trust can purchase the Company’s shares in the market for the same purpose. The Remuneration

Committee recommends to the trustee the levels of grants of share options to employees.

An Extraordinary General Meeting has been called requesting the approval of a new employee share option scheme to replace the above

scheme which is due to expire in the first-half of 2007. 
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8 The royalblue group plc Share Bonus Trust

The royalblue group plc Share Bonus Trust is a discretionary trust established for the benefit of participants in the royalblue group plc Share

Bonus Plan. It has an independent, professional trustee, Kleinwort Benson (Jersey) Trustees Limited, and is currently financed by advances from

the Group. All rights to dividends have been waived by the trust. The costs of administering the trust are charged to the Income Statement as

incurred. The trust acquires its shares in the Company from the market at the same time as participants in the Share Bonus Plan acquire their

participating shares. During the year the trust acquired 45,543 ordinary shares of 10p in the Company for a consideration of £316,000. The

trust’s maximum holding in the year was 183,112 ordinary shares. The trust purchases shares to match purchases and provide a National

Insurance Contribution hedge against purchases of ordinary shares by participants in the royalblue group plc Share Bonus Plan.

9 Research and development

The Group has continued its commitment to research and development and places a high priority on maintaining and improving the

functionality, quality and competitive position of its business software products. During the year the total expenditure on research and 

product development was £10,534,000 (2004 £7,409,000). This is measured on a direct cost only basis with no overheads allocated.

10 Employment policies

The Group’s employment policies, including the commitment to equal opportunity, are designed to attract, retain and motivate the very best 

staff regardless of colour, nationality, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, age, religion, disability or any other characteristic protected by law.

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicant concerned. Wherever

possible the employment of employees who become disabled will be continued and appropriate training and career development will be offered. 

The health and safety of the Group’s employees, customers and visitors is of primary importance. Therefore, the Group is committed to creating

and maintaining a safe and healthy working environment by managing its activities so as to avoid unnecessary or unacceptable risks. Health and

safety audits and risk assessments have been carried out during the year including a fire risk assessment and workstation assessments for staff.

Good and effective employee communications and openness with staff are important and the Group promotes the understanding and

involvement of all its employees in the Group’s business aims and performance. The policy of providing employees with information about new

products, operations, and the performance and development of the Group has continued through the Group’s intranet, product seminars and

through regular Company meetings at which staff are given progress updates on the Group by the directors. 

Any employees with questions or concerns about any type of discrimination, behaviour or practice at royalblue are encouraged to bring 

these issues to the attention of their manager. These reports will be investigated promptly and appropriate action and feedback given to the

employee concerned. Any attempt to deter employees from raising proper concerns will be treated as a serious disciplinary offence. The

Company has implemented an anonymous reporting box on its intranet where employees can raise any such concerns which will be copied 

to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and dealt with by the Company promptly. 

11 Environmental policy

The Group is concerned with the conservation of the environment and recognises that certain resources are finite and have to be used

responsibly. Our policy is to meet the relevant statutory requirements and apply good environmental practice in our business operations. We

aim to recycle as much of our waste products as is practicable and to dispose of non-recyclable items in an environmentally friendly way. We

also endeavour to limit our impact on the environment by the use of electronic communications such as email.

During 2005 feedback from employees was encouraged on how the Group could realistically contribute to reducing its environmental impact. After

receiving various recommendations on reducing energy used, paper wastage and other topics relevant to a software product and services Group, it

was decided to continue to focus on reducing the volume of paper used and to see where efficiency in the use of electricity could be improved.

The major environmental impacts by the Group are considered to be the use of paper, electrical and electronic equipment and the disposal of

waste. Local improvement targets, where practical, were set and during the year an environmental audit was carried out. Targets have been

met and new ones will be set for 2006. Recommendations arising from the audit have been acted upon and an associated article on the

Group’s environmental approach and practices was published on the Group’s intranet. 
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12 Social and Ethics

The Group believes all businesses should be socially responsible and ethical and has adopted a code of conduct including a code of ethics that

encourages our employees to follow principles of good business and social behaviour. This is published to all employees. We participate in and

support the local communities where we work, as we believe this benefits royalblue as well as the local communities. Employees get involved

in raising money for national and international charities through fundraising events, several of which are typically held every year. 

13 Donations

The total amount of charitable donations made by the Group during 2005 was £6,000 (2004 £1,000). There were no political donations.

14 Payments to creditors

It is the Company’s and the Group’s policy to agree terms and conditions for their business transactions with their suppliers. The Company and

the Group seek to abide by the payment terms agreed with suppliers whenever they are satisfied that the supplier has provided the goods and

services in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions. As at 31st December 2005 the number of days of annual purchases represented

by the year-end creditors for the Company amounted to 27 days (2004:28 days) and for the Group amounted to 23 days (2004:37 days).

15 Auditors

In accordance with Section 384 of the Companies Act 1985, a resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc as auditors of the

Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

Susanna Freeman

Secretary

10th February 2006
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Introduction

This report by the Remuneration Committee has been approved by the Board for submission to shareholders in accordance with the 2003

Combined Code on Corporate Governance, the requirements of the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority and the reporting requirements of

the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (“the Regulations”). Consistent with previous years, a resolution to approve the report

will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company at which the financial statements will be approved.

The Regulations require the auditors to report to the Company’s members on the “auditable part” of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and

to state whether in their opinion that part of the report has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 (as amended

by the Regulations). The report has therefore been divided into separate sections for audited and unaudited information.

Unaudited information
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was chaired by Colin Amies until his departure and replacement by Ron Mackintosh in April 2005. Philip

Hardaker also joined the committee in February 2005. None of the members of the committee has any personal financial interest (other than

possibly as shareholders), conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships or day-to-day involvement in running the business. The committee

is responsible for determining the remuneration, other benefits and terms of employment, including performance-related bonus schemes and

share option schemes, for the executive directors. The committee has access to external advisers as necessary and a written review was

produced by such advisers in 2005.

Remuneration policy

The Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration of the executive directors after consulting with the Chairman and Chief Executive.

The committee reviews the performance of the individual concerned and takes account of comparative market data from other companies in

the IT sector. The Remuneration Committee believes that the executive directors should be rewarded fairly, competitively and at a similar level

to directors in comparable companies and at a level that will attract, motivate and retain directors of an appropriate calibre who deliver value to

shareholders. The Group’s policy is that a substantial proportion of the remuneration of the executive directors should be performance related.

Therefore the remuneration of the executive directors is characterised by a lower base salary, which has been unchanged since January 2001,

and greater weighting to performance related bonus than for comparative companies. The overall package, which will be reviewed on a regular

basis, may contain any of the following elements:

• A base salary

• Performance-related bonus payments

• Other benefits

• Share-based incentives

Basic salary

Each executive director’s basic salary is reviewed annually based on performance, achievement of objectives and comparative salaries.

Bonus

The Company operates a performance-related bonus scheme for executive directors. Chris Aspinwall is entitled to a bonus based on the

Group’s profits before taxation excluding exceptional items. The terms of the bonus will be reviewed if there is a material acquisition in any

period. The bonus is subject to an upper limit of four times base salary. Andy Malpass is entitled to a bonus subject to performance against a

series of financial and management objectives and also subject to the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. The bonus is capped at not

more than 150% of base salary. John Hamer is not eligible to a bonus.

Other benefits

No director is currently eligible to a pension contribution. Benefits provided include the provision of a company car or a car allowance, medical

insurance and life assurances.

Service contracts

The contracts of service for Chris Aspinwall and Andy Malpass are for an indefinite term providing for 12 months’ notice by either party. These

contracts were entered into on 2nd June 1997 and amended on 3rd October 2003. In the event of termination the director is eligible to salary,

benefits and bonus accrued during the notice period and payable in equal monthly instalments subject to the director using reasonable

endeavours to obtain suitable alternative employment.
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The contract of service for John Hamer was entered into on 2nd June 1997 and is for an indefinite term providing for six months’ notice by

either party. Ron Mackintosh and Philip Hardaker each have letters of appointment that provide for an initial period of three years, subject to

termination by either party with one month’s notice.

Non-executive fees

The Board determines the non-executive directors’ fees. The non-executive directors are not involved in decisions about their own

remuneration. The non-executive directors are not eligible for performance-related remuneration, the grant of share options or participation in

other share based incentives.

Interests in contracts

During the year no director had any interest in any contract of significance with the Company or its subsidiary undertakings.

Total shareholder return performance graph

The Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 require the presentation of a performance graph of total shareholder return compared to

a broad equity market index for a period of five years. The total shareholder return is the share price plus dividends re-invested over the period

of the graph. The Board believes that the TechMARK All-Share Index, of which royalblue group plc is a constituent, provides the best benchmark

for comparison. The Company share price and the TechMARK All-Share Index are both set to 100 at the start of the five year period.

Audited information
Directors’ remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the directors are set out below:

Base fees & salaries Benefits Bonus Total

Year ended 31st December 2005 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Chairman

John Hamer 85 1 – 86

Executive

Chris Aspinwall 150 13 454 617

Andy Malpass 135 15 150 300

Non-executive

Colin Amies (resigned 26th April 2005) 12 – – 12

Alan Neilson (resigned 26th April 2005) 11 – – 11

Ron Mackintosh 30 – – 30

Philip Hardaker (appointed 22nd  February 2005) 30 – – 30

Total 453 29 604 1,086
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Base fees & salaries Benefits Bonus Total

Year ended 31st December 2004 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Chairman

John Hamer 85 1 – 86

Executive

Chris Aspinwall 150 39 421 610

Andy Malpass 135 14 150 299

Non-executive

Colin Amies 32 – – 32

Leon Liebman (resigned 26th May 2004) 15 – – 15

Alan Neilson 20 1 – 21

Ron Mackintosh (appointed 9th June 2004) 17 – – 17

Total 454 55 571 1,080

Fees in respect of Colin Amies were paid to Trychange Limited.  

Directors’ interests

The interests of the directors and their families in the ordinary shares of the Company, all of which were beneficial, were as follows:

31st December 2005 31st December 2004

Number Number

John Hamer 642,595 824,018

Chris Aspinwall 1,041,225 1,034,856

Andy Malpass 110,761 104,491

Ron Mackintosh 20,000 –

Philip Hardaker 2,000 –

Between the 31st December 2005 and the date of this report the interests of John Hamer, Chris Aspinwall and Andy Malpass have each

increased by 15 shares as a result of a regular monthly purchase by the royalblue group plc Share Incentive Plan.

Share options and share incentives

The Company has share option schemes whereby employees are able to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company. The executive directors

participated in the share option schemes in previous years but are now restricted to participation in the Share Bonus Plan. The interests of the

directors in share options are as follows:

Number at Number at Date

1st January Exercised Granted 31st December Option exercisable Expiry 

2004 during year during year 2004 price from date

Andy Malpass 13,833 – – 13,833 £12.85 17.08.2003 17.08.2007

13,833 – – 13,833 £12.85 17.08.2004 17.08.2007

1,167 – – 1,167 £12.85 17.08.2003 17.08.2010

1,167 – – 1,167 £12.85 17.08.2004 17.08.2010
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

The interests of the directors in the Share Bonus Plan are as follows:

Number of shares

conditionally

Total interest awarded during Total interest Purchase price

in the the year in the per share

Share Bonus to match Share Bonus of matching

Plan at employee Plan at shares

1st January purchases 31st December purchased

2005 of shares 2005 in the year

Chris Aspinwall 17,946 6,112 24,058 649p

Andy Malpass 17,270 6,013 23,283 660p

The mid-market price of the shares at 31st December 2005 was 718p (445p at 31st December 2004) and the range in the year was 437.5p to 740p.

Share options

Share options are granted on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee on a discretionary basis. The schemes are used to provide

long-term incentives to the recipients to assist in creating and sustaining growth in share value. Share options granted since the Group has

been listed are conditional on continued employment of three and four years after the grant of the option. These share options have been

granted periodically, typically once each year to eligible employees. The Company has shareholder approval for share options of up to 10% of

the issued ordinary share capital subsequent to the listing on the London Stock Exchange, of which 6.7% has been used to date. At 31st

December 2005 the outstanding share options represented 6.7% of the issued share capital. The committee believes that the use of share

options has been a material contributor to the growth and success of royalblue. Share options are granted to all employees subject to an initial

period of employment. Executive directors participate in the Share Bonus Plan and do not receive grants of share options. In any financial year a

participant in the Share Bonus Plan is ineligible to a grant of share options.

Share bonus plan

At the 2003 Annual General Meeting shareholders approved the creation of the royalblue group plc Share Bonus Plan. In summary, the plan

allows the Company to make awards to executive directors and senior managers (“a participant”). An award provides that, should a participant

purchase ordinary shares in the Company, then they have the opportunity to receive a share bonus. A share bonus constitutes the right, subject

to certain vesting conditions, to call for free matching shares. The maximum number of free matching shares comprised in a share bonus is

equal to the number of shares purchased by the participant. The maximum value of shares which any one participant is permitted to acquire is

limited to the value of the award. The plan rules limit the maximum value of individual awards to £100,000. 

Initial awards from the plan were made to senior managers, but not to directors, and the only performance condition on these awards was

continued employment for a period of three years. 

Following feedback from discussions with major shareholders an Extraordinary General Meeting was held in October 2003 to propose the

addition of performance conditions to the Share Bonus Plan. The Extraordinary General Meeting overwhelmingly approved the proposals with

99% of votes cast approving the changes and 67% of the issued shares casting a vote. For all awards from the Share Bonus Plan subsequent to

the Extraordinary General Meeting a participant's right to a share bonus will vest subject to and to the extent that a combination of four

performance conditions are satisfied as follows:

• the Company achieving compound annual growth in earnings per share in excess of defined hurdles over a period of three financial years,

commencing with the financial year in respect of which an award is made. In relation to awards made in respect of the financial year ended

31st December 2005 the specified hurdle rates are: 

(i) if compound annual growth in EPS is equal to or greater than UK retail price index ("RPI") plus 3% but less than RPI plus 4% then

6.25% of the Share Bonus shall vest;

(ii) if compound annual growth in EPS is equal to or greater than UK RPI plus 4% but less than RPI plus 5% then 12.5% of the Share

Bonus shall vest;

(iii) if compound annual growth in EPS equal to or greater than UK RPI plus 5% but less than RPI plus 6% then 18.75% of the Share Bonus

shall vest;

(iv) if compound annual growth in EPS equal to or greater than UK RPI plus 6% then 25% of the Share Bonus shall vest;
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

• the Company achieving an objective business development target. The nature of this target will not, necessarily, be a measure of the

financial performance of the Company and will be determined by the Remuneration Committee from time to time. If this condition is fully

satisfied, then 25% of the Share Bonus will vest;

• the Company achieving compound annual growth in total shareholder return ("TSR"), the share price plus the cumulative dividends over

the period, in excess of defined hurdles over a period of three financial years commencing with the financial year in respect of which an

award has been made. In relation to awards made in respect of the financial year ended 31st December 2005 the specified hurdle rates are:

(i) if compound annual growth in TSR is more than 3% but less than or equal to 5% then 6.25% of the Share Bonus shall vest;

(ii) if compound annual growth in TSR is more than 5% but less than or equal to 7% then 12.5% of the Share Bonus shall vest;

(iii) if compound annual growth in TSR is more than 7% but less than or equal to 9% then 18.75% of the Share Bonus shall vest;

(iv) if compound annual growth in TSR is more than 9% then 25% of the Share Bonus shall vest; and

• continued employment within the Group until the third anniversary of the date on which the participant purchased the shares relating to 

a particular award. If this condition is satisfied, then 25% of the Share Bonus shall vest.

The final performance condition is an overriding performance condition. Therefore, it must be satisfied in order for any of the other

performance conditions to be satisfied. The Remuneration Committee will set performance conditions in accordance with the structure set out

above at the time awards are made to participants. Performance conditions relating to awards made in relation to each subsequent financial

year cannot be less challenging than those relating to the immediately preceding financial year.

In exceptional circumstances, where events occur which cause the Remuneration Committee to reasonably believe that some or all of the

performance condition relating to an award are no longer fair (taking into account the original purpose of the performance condition(s)), then

the Remuneration Committee may procure that a recommendation be made to the trustee of the plan for the performance condition to be

amended or waived in such manner as the Remuneration Committee believes to be fair and reasonable provided that the amended performance

condition is not easier or more difficult to achieve than the original performance condition was considered to be when it was first set.

Where a change of control event occurs prior to the vesting of a share bonus, the Remuneration Committee shall procure that a recommendation

is made to the trustee in relation to the extent to which a share bonus should vest on the occurrence of the change of control event. The

Remuneration Committee must make such recommendation taking into account the amount of progress made by the Company towards

achieving the performance conditions as at the time of the change of control, the extent and likelihood of the performance conditions being

satisfied by the date on which the share bonus would have vested in the absence of the change of control event occurring and any other relevant

factors which the Remuneration Committee considers, in its absolute discretion, to be relevant (such as time elapsed since an award was made).

The operation of the Share Bonus Plan has been reviewed during the year by the Remuneration Committee and the level of grants and the

performance conditions attached to the Plan are considered by the Remuneration Committee to be appropriate to the Company’s current

situation and in line with the remuneration policy recommended by the Company’s external independent remuneration advisers. 

The Remuneration Committee and its external advisers have also reviewed the Company’s share incentive schemes as a whole and as a result

they have formulated a proposal for a plan focused at the senior managers that requires exceptional performance (an average of 20% growth

per annum over ten years) for all rewards to vest. The Board has consulted extensively with shareholders on the construction of this scheme and

has been very encouraged by the positive contribution the shareholders have made in its development. 

Approval

This report was approved by the Board on 10th February 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

Susanna Freeman

Secretary

10th February 2006
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Corporate Governance

Compliance with the Combined Code

royalblue is committed to high standards of corporate governance. In respect of the year ended 31st December 2005 the Company has

complied with the requirements of Section 1 of The Combined Code on Corporate Governance with one minor exception. Where the Company

does not comply with the Code an explanation is set out. 

The Board

The Company is controlled through the Board, which at 31st December 2005 comprised the chairman, two executive directors and two non-

executive directors whose Board and Committee responsibilities are set out in the table below:

Board Audit Remuneration Nominations

John Hamer Chairman Chairman – – Chairman

Chris Aspinwall Chief Executive Member – – –

Andy Malpass Finance Director Member – – –

Colin Amies 

(resigned 26th April 2005) Senior Independent Non-executive Director Member Chairman Chairman Member

(until (until 

26th April) 26th April)

Ron Mackintosh Independent Non-executive Director Member Member Member Member

(Senior Independent Non-executive Director (Chairman

from 26th April 2005) from 26th 

April 2005)

Alan Neilson 

(resigned 26th April 2005) Non-executive Director Member – – –

Philip Hardaker 

(appointed 22nd Non-executive Director Member Member Member Member

February 2005) (Chairman 

from 26th 

April 2005)

After formal review the Board has concluded that Ron Mackintosh and Philip Hardaker are independent. In coming to this opinion the Board

considered the character and judgement of the individuals concerned and the fact that they:

• Have never been an employee of the Group;

• Have never had a material business relationship with the Group;

• Do not receive any remuneration from the Group other than their non-executive director fees;

• Do not have close family ties with other directors or senior management of the Group or with advisers to the Group;

• Have no significant links with other directors of the Group through involvement with other companies;

• Do not represent a material shareholder of the Company; and

• Have not served on the Board of the Company for more than nine years.
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Corporate Governance 

The Board meets formally on a regular basis to review trading performance and forecasts, strategy, policy and risk and to oversee appropriate

shareholder reporting. During 2005 the Board met on nine scheduled occasions for this purpose, one of these meetings was held in the New

York office. In addition, impromptu Board Meetings occur to consider specific issues as and when necessary. Meetings were held by the

Chairman with the non-executive directors without the executive directors present. The attendance of individual directors at Board meetings

and Committee meetings is presented in the table below:

Board meetings Audit Committee Remuneration Committee

attended meetings attended meetings attended

John Hamer 9/9 – –

Chris Aspinwall 9/9

Andy Malpass 9/9 – –

Colin Amies Resigned 26th April 2005 3/9 1/3 1/3

Ron Mackintosh 9/9 3/3 3/3

Alan Neilson Resigned on 26th April 2005 1/9 – –

Philip Hardaker Appointed 22nd  February 2005 8/9 2/3 2/3

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of corporate governance. The Board delegates operational control to the executive directors.

There is a formal schedule of matters reserved for the decision of the Board that covers key areas of the Group’s affairs. The schedule includes

activities such as acquisitions and disposals, material financial commitments and the release of price sensitive information. Certain matters

require Board approval and other matters may be approved by senior management but notification to the Board is required. The schedule of

matters reserved for the Board is reviewed annually. A procedure exists to allow the directors to seek independent legal advice in respect of

their duties at the Company’s expense where the circumstances are appropriate. All directors have access to the Company Secretary for her

advice and services. All directors are obliged to submit themselves for re-election at least every three years.

Performance Evaluation

The Combined Code on Corporate Governance requires that the Board undertake a formal annual evaluation of its performance. The review

has been conducted and covered the areas of board structure, effectiveness, committees, information and communication. Questionnaires were

completed by the directors and submitted to the Company Secretary. The feedback generated from the questionnaires was discussed by the

Board with the conclusion that the Board is operating effectively. Ways in which Board performance and the effectiveness of its committees

could be enhanced arising from the results of the questionnaire are currently being discussed with a view to implementation. A review of the

Chairman by the non-executive directors without the executives present was not carried out this year. The reason for this is that Philip Hardaker,

one of the two non-executive directors, was only appointed during the year and the senior non-executive director, Ron Mackintosh was only

appointed in 2004. Ron Mackintosh plans to conduct such a review in 2006. 

There is a formal written policy on the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive such that their roles are

complementary to each other. 

Training and Professional Development

All directors on joining the Company undergo an induction process and receive ongoing updates to improve their skills and knowledge

according to their needs. The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the board and updating it on governance matters. 



23

an
n

u
al

rep
o

rt
an

d
fi

n
an

cial
statem

en
ts

2005

Corporate Governance 

The following committees deal with specific aspects of the Group’s affairs and their terms of reference can be found on the Company’s website:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has since April 2005 been chaired by Philip Hardaker who has recent and relevant financial experience as a former partner

of KPMG. It comprises Philip Hardaker and Ron Mackintosh, Colin Amies having stepped down at the 2005 Annual General Meeting. It has met

three times with the external auditors during the year. The Chairman and executive directors were invited to attend for part of these meetings.

The committee reviews the interim and annual reports, reports from the external auditors and scope and representation letters in respect of the

audit and reviews undertaken by the Auditors. The committee has met and reviewed the terms of reference, scope, programme and reports of

the internal audit function. The committee focuses the activity of the internal audit function on those areas where it considers there to be the

greatest risk. The audit committee reviews annually the overall results of the ISO 9001 and it has reviewed the results of the SAS 70 audit. 

Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee, which is chaired by John Hamer, comprises John Hamer, Philip Hardaker and Ron Mackintosh and is therefore

compliant with the requirements of the Combined Code. Its role is to review the structure of the Board and to agree succession planning as set

out in the Nominations Committee terms of reference. The procedure for new appointments incorporates the use of independent recruitment

consultants where applicable. 

Dialogue with Shareholders

The Company values the views of its shareholders and recognises their interests in the Company’s strategy and performance. The Chief

Executive and Finance Director hold briefing meetings with analysts and institutional shareholders, primarily following the announcement of

interim and preliminary results but also at other times during the year as may be suitable. The Chief Executive and Finance Director provide

feedback to the Board from these briefing meetings. The Board also obtains formal feedback on the Company and management from analysts

and institutional shareholders through the Company’s PR adviser and financial adviser. Communication with private investors is through the

Annual Report, the Interim Report and the Annual General Meeting. Financial and other information is made available on the Company’s web

site, www.fidessa.com, which is regularly updated. The Chairman and Senior Non-Executive Director meet with major shareholders as and when

there is a requirement to do so. 

Going Concern

Having reviewed the future plans and projections for the business, the directors believe that the Company and its subsidiary undertakings have

adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, a period of not less than 12 months from the date of this

report. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Internal control

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. However, such a system is

designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Combined Code requires that directors review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls, including those of an

operational and compliance nature, as well as internal financial controls. The Board is of the view that there is an ongoing process for

identifying, evaluating and managing the Group’s significant risks and that this has been in place for the period under review and up to the

date of approval of the Annual Report. The Board’s agenda includes a regular item for consideration of risk and control, and any actions that

may be considered necessary, and it receives reports thereon from the executive directors. 

Management is responsible for the identification and evaluation of significant risks applicable to their areas of business together with the

design and operation of suitable internal controls. These risks are assessed on a continual basis and may be associated with a variety of 

internal or external sources including competition, control breakdowns, disruption in information systems, natural catastrophe and regulatory

requirements. A process of control assessment and reporting is established and defined in the Group’s Quality Management System. This system

is independently audited to ISO quality standard 9001 on a regular basis and we successfully completed a SAS70 audit during the year. We

believe this audit is particularly important to our US clients in enabling them to satisfy their Sarbanes Oxley requirements when using a Fidessa

solution. The treasury function operates within guidelines established by the Board. 
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A comprehensive budgetary process is completed once a year and is reviewed and approved by the Board. An updated forecast is regularly

prepared throughout the year. The operating results are reported monthly to the Board and compared to the budget and latest forecast as

appropriate. The Company reports to its shareholders twice a year. 

For details of the Group’s financial risk objectives and policies together with its policy with regard to the use of financial instruments, please

refer to the Finance Review section of this Report. 

Auditor independence

The Board has considered the issue of external auditor independence and is satisfied that independence has been maintained. During the period

non-audit work undertaken by the auditor has been limited to the preparation of tax returns, tax compliance advice and preparation of monthly

payroll for one minor operation in the Group. Board approval is required before the external auditors can undertake any work outside these activities.

The Audit Committee has considered the independence of the internal audit function and is satisfied that independence has been maintained.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and the financial statements 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with applicable

law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they are

required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and have elected to prepare the Company

financial statements on the same basis. 

The Group and Company financial statements are required by law, and IFRSs as adopted by the EU, to present fairly the financial position of the

Group and the Company and the performance for that period; the Companies Act 1985 provides in relation to such financial statements that

references in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation. 

In preparing each of the Group and the Company financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company will

continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of

the Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They have general responsibility for

taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and

the Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that law and those regulations. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website.

Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Independent Auditors’ report 
to members of royalblue group plc

We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (the ‘’financial statements’’) of royalblue group plc for the year ended 31st

December 2005 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and

Company Cash Flow Statements, the Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and the related notes. These

financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’

Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work

has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report

and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company

and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance

with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU are set out in the Statement of Directors’

Responsibilities. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in

accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the part

of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards

the financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the

financial statements, if the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we

require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed. 

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC

Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not

required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures. 

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. We

consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial

statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 

Basis of audit opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An

audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of the

Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors

in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s

circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us

with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be

audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the

overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. 

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of the Group’s affairs

as at 31st December 2005 and of its profit for the year then ended; 

• the Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU as applied in accordance with

the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31st December 2005; and 

• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with

the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 

KPMG Audit Plc, Chartered Accountants, Registered Auditor, Crawley.  10th February 2006 



26

an
n

u
al

re
p

o
rt

an
d

fi
n

an
ci

al
st

at
em

en
ts

20
05

Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 31st December 2005

2005 2004

Note £’000 £’000

Revenue 3 74,234 59,768

Operating expenses 4 (65,199) (52,393)

Other operating income 594 688

Operating profit 9,629 8,063

Interest receivable 6 1,707 1,741

Interest payable – (2)

Profit before income tax 11,336 9,802

Income tax expense 7 (1,240) (2,577)

Profit for the period 10,096 7,225

Basic earnings per share 8 31.6p 22.7p

Diluted earnings per share 8 31.0p 22.3p

Interim dividend paid 15 3.3p 2.7p

Final dividend proposed 15 7.0p 5.8p

Total dividend 15 10.3p 8.5p
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Consolidated Balance Sheet at 31st December 2005

2005 2004

Note £’000 £’000

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9 8,757 6,347

Intangible assets 10 7,984 6,681

Deferred tax assets 12 3,165 1,993

Other receivables 11 898 898

Total non-current assets 20,804 15,919

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 18,615 12,787

Income tax receivable 672 886

Cash and cash equivalents 14 26,120 24,590

Total current assets 45,407 38,263

Total assets 66,211 54,182

Equity

Issued capital 15 3,272 3,268

Share premium 11,743 11,610

Translation reserve 15 (51) (206)

Retained earnings 27,241 18,838

Total equity 42,205 33,510

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Other payables 548 328

Deferred tax liabilities 12 1,264 1,953

Total non-current liabilities 1,812 2,281

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 20,676 14,849

Current income tax liabilities 1,518 3,542

Total current liabilities 22,194 18,391

Total liabilities 24,006 20,672

Total equity and liabilities 66,211 54,182

Approved by the board of directors on 10th February 2006 and signed on its behalf by

A Malpass
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Company Balance Sheet at 31st December 2005

2005 2004

Note £’000 £’000

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9 10 52

Investments 11 1,134 1,120

Deferred tax assets 12 94 96

Other receivables 11 898 898

Total non-current assets 2,136 2,166

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 3,855 649

Cash and cash equivalents 14 21,804 21,087

Total current assets 25,659 21,736

Total assets 27,795 23,902

Equity

Issued capital 15 3,272 3,268

Share premium 11,743 11,610

Retained earnings 10,009 7,589

Total equity 25,024 22,467

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Other payables 548 328

Total non-current liabilities 548 328

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 1,372 1,107

Current income tax liabilities 851 –

Total current liabilities 2,223 1,107

Total liabilities 2,771 1,435

Total equity and liabilities 27,795 23,902

Approved by the board of directors on 10th February 2006 and signed on its behalf by

A Malpass
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Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Cumulative

Share Share translation Retained Total 

capital premium adjustment earnings equity

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1st January 2004 3,268 11,610 – 21,423 36,301

Gain on sale of own shares by employee share trust – – – 250 250

Income tax deduction recognised direct to equity 7 – – – 279 279

Deferred tax recognised direct to equity 7 – – – (240) (240)

Currency translation adjustments – – (206) – (206)

– – (206) 289 83

Profit for the period from the income statement – – – 7,225 7,225

Total income and expense for the period – – (206) 7,514 7,308

Employee share incentive charges 4 – – – 414 414

Purchase of shares by employee share trust – – – (308) (308)

Capital proceeds from sale of own shares by 

employee share trust – – – 650 650

Dividends paid 15 – – – (10,855) (10,855)

Balance at 31st December 2004 3,268 11,610 (206) 18,838 33,510

Gain on sale of own shares by employee share trust – – – 89 89

Income tax deduction recognised direct to equity 7 – – – 39 39

Deferred tax recognised direct to equity 7 – – – 794 794

Currency translation adjustments – – 155 – 155

– – 155 922 1,077

Profit for the period from the income statement – – – 10,096 10,096

Total income and expense for the period – – 155 11,018 11,173

Exercise of share options 4 133 – – 137

Employee share incentive charges 4 – – – 538 538

Purchase of shares by employee share trust – – – (312) (312)

Capital proceeds from sale of own shares by 

employee share trust – – – 67 67

Dividends paid 15 – – – (2,908) (2,908)

Balance at 31st December 2005 3,272 11,743 (51) 27,241 42,205
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Company Statement of 
Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Share Share Retained Total 

capital premium earnings equity

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1st January 2004 3,268 11,610 12,062 26,940

Gain on sale of own shares by employee share trust – – 250 250

Profit for the period from the income statement – – 5,773 5,773

Total income and expense for the period – – 6,023 6,023

Employee share incentive charges 4 – – 17 17

Purchase of shares by employee share trust – – (308) (308)

Capital proceeds from sale of own shares by employee share trust – – 650 650

Dividend paid 15 – – (10,855) (10,855)

Balance at 31st December 2004 3,268 11,610 7,589 22,467

Gain on sale of own shares by employee share trust – – 89 89

Profit for the period from the income statement – – 5,459 5,459

Total income and expense for the period – – 5,548 5,548

Exercise of share options 4 133 – 137

Employee share incentive charges 4 – – 25 25

Purchase of shares by employee share trust – – (312) (312)

Capital proceeds from sale of own shares by employee share trust – – 67 67

Dividend paid 15 – – (2,908) (2,908)

Balance at 31st December 2005 3,272 11,743 10,009 25,024
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31st December 2005

2005 2004

Note £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 11,336 9,802

Adjustments for:

Staff costs – share incentives 4 538 414

Product development amortised 4 4,373 3,789

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 3,604 2,433

Amortisation of other intangible assets 4 152 36

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 4 4 8

Interest receivable (1,707) (1,741)

Interest payable – 2

Cash generated from operations before changes in working capital 18,300 14,743

Movement in trade and other receivables (5,653) (623)

Movement in trade and other payables 5,223 683

Cash generated from operations 17,870 14,803

Income tax paid (3,808) (1,748)

Net cash generated from operating activities 14,062 13,055

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 (5,641) (4,043)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 20 11

Purchase of other intangible assets 10 (403) (191)

Product development 10 (5,418) (4,076)

Interest received 1,197 1,235

Proceeds from capital repayment of Touchpaper “B” Loan Note 11 500 500

Interest paid – (2)

Net cash used in investing activities (9,745) (6,566)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from shares issued 137 –

Purchase of own shares by employee share trust (312) (309)

Proceeds from sale of own shares by employee share trust 156 901

Dividends paid 15 (2,908) (10,855)

Net cash used in financing activities (2,927) (10,263)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,390 (3,774)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 24,590 28,498

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 140 (134)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 26,120 24,590
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Company Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31st December 2005

2005 2004

Note £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 5,588 5,919

Adjustments for:

Staff costs – share incentives 4 25 17

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 42 42

Interest receivable (1,703) (1,740)

Interest payable – 1

Cash generated from operations before changes in working capital 3,952 4,239

Movement in trade and other receivables (933) 631

Movement in trade and other payables (258) (19)

Cash generated from operations 2,761 4,851

Income tax paid (796) (303)

Net cash generated from operating activities 1,965 4,548

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 – (1)

Interest received 1,193 1,234

Proceeds from capital repayment of Touchpaper “B” Loan Note 11 500 500

Interest paid – (1)

Investment in subsidiary company (14) –

Net cash generated from investing activities 1,679 1,732

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from shares issued 137 –

Purchase of own shares by employee share trust (312) (309)

Proceeds from sale of own shares by employee share trust 156 901

Dividends paid 15 (2,908) (10,855)

Net cash used in financing activities (2,927) (10,263)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 717 (3,983)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 21,087 25,075

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held – (5)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 21,804 21,087
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Notes to the Financial Statements

royalblue group plc (“royalblue” or the “Company”) is a company incorporated in England and Wales. The financial statements

are presented in pounds sterling, rounded to the nearest thousand.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 10th February 2006.

The group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The

parent company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its group.

Both the Company financial statements and the Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“adopted IFRSs” or “IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union

(“EU”). In publishing the Company financial statements here together with the Group financial statements, the Company has

taken advantage of the exemption in s230 of the Companies Act 1985 not to present its individual income statement and related

notes that form a part of these approved financial statements.

Both the Group and the Company are preparing their financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU for the

first time and consequently both have applied IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. An

explanation of how the transition to adopted IFRSs has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and cash

flows of the Group and the Company is provided in note 23.

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards sets out the transition rules, which must be applied,

when IFRS is adopted for the first time. The standard sets out certain mandatory exemptions to retrospective application and

certain optional exemptions. The most significant optional exemptions available and taken by the Company and the Group are as

follows:

(i) Share-based transactions; the Company and the Group adopted the exemption in IFRS 1 which allows a first-time adopter to 

apply the new standard only to share options and equity instruments granted after 7th November 2002 that have not vested 

by 1st January 2005.

(ii) Cumulative translation differences; under IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates cumulative translation

differences within reserves are recycled from equity to the income statement on disposal of a foreign operation. In order to

eliminate the need to retrospectively apply this requirement, the Group took the exemption to set cumulative translation

differences to zero at the date of transition.

1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis with the exception of financial instruments which are stated in

accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and

assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances, the results for which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of 

assets and liabilities that are not readily available from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently by the Group to all periods

presented in these financial statements and in preparing an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1st January 2004 for the purposes of

the transition to adopted IFRSs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Significant accounting policies
a Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of royalblue group plc and its subsidiaries. There are no

associates or joint ventures to be consolidated.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally

accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on

which control is transferred to the Group until the date on which control ceases. Intra-group balances, and any unrealised gains

and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial

statements. The Group uses the purchase method of accounting to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. 

b Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to pounds sterling at the foreign

exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the

exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated

at fair value are translated to pounds sterling at foreign exchanges rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

(ii) Financial statements of foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to pounds sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance

sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to pounds sterling at rates approximating the foreign

exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised directly

in the translation reserve.

c Revenue

Revenue represents the amount chargeable, excluding sales related taxes, for software related services supplied. Revenue is only

recognised where there is persuasive evidence that a contract exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and

collection of the resulting receivable is considered probable. Full allowance is made for all known or expected losses.

Revenue from fixed price contracts and outright software licences is recognised in accordance with the percentage completed for

each contract. Revenue from installation, consultancy and training services chargeable on a time and materials basis is recognised

when the work is performed. Revenue from rental and support services is recognised equally over the period that the service is to

be provided. 

Deferred revenue represents amounts invoiced to customers for goods and services not yet supplied. Accrued revenue represents

amounts recognised as revenue to be invoiced in a future period. 

d Share-based payments

The Group operates two equity-settled share incentive plans. No expense is recognised in respect of share incentives granted

before 7th November 2002 or incentives vested before 1st January 2005. For share incentives granted after 7th November 2002

and vested after 1st January 2005 the fair value of the incentives granted is recognised as an employee expense with a

corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees

become unconditionally entitled to the incentives. The fair value of the incentives granted is measured using a binomial model,

taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the incentives were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is

adjusted to reflect the actual number of share incentives that vest except where forfeiture is only due to the share price not

achieving the threshold for vesting.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e Interest income 

Interest income on interest-bearing financial assets is recognised on an accruals basis using the effective interest rate method. 

The effective interest rate used reflects the anticipated cash flows to be received. In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement, where the effective interest rate has been and is still assessed as being zero, both capital and

interest amounts received are recognised as income on receipt.

f Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or

loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the

balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of

deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets or liabilities,

using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which

the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit

will be realised.

Deferred tax is applied to share-based payments in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes.

g Segment reporting

A business segment is a distinguishable component of a group engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks

and returns that are different from those of other business segments. The Group considers there to be only one business segment.

A geographic segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that is subject to

risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

h Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided by the Group to write-off the cost less the estimated residual value of property, plant and equipment by

equal instalments over their estimated useful economic lives as follows:

• Equipment and furniture 3 – 5 years

• Computers 2 – 3 years

• Motor vehicles 4 years

• Buildings 25 years

• Leasehold improvements 5 years or remainder of lease 
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Significant accounting policies continued
i Intangible assets

Research and development

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on product development (relating to the design,

programming and testing of new or enhanced products) are capitalised as intangible assets when it is probable that the

development will provide economic benefits, considering its commercial and technological feasibility, resources are available for

the development, and costs can be measured reliably. The expenditure capitalised is the direct labour costs and is managed and

controlled centrally. Other development expenditures are recognised as an expense as incurred. Product development costs

previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. 

Capitalised product development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Product

development costs that have been capitalised are amortised from the time of development on a straight-line basis over three years. 

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are purchased by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Expenditure

on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. Software purchased

for internal use is amortised over two years.

j Impairment of assets

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and intangibles is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in

circumstances indicate the carrying value may be impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is

estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an

individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs.

k Leased assets

Where the Group enters into an operating lease the rentals are charged as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the

lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense.

l Investments and financial instruments

From the date of transition to IFRS the Group classifies its investments in the following categories: available for sale assets and

loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Further information is

shown in note 11.

Other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market

and with no intention of trading. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the

balance sheet date, which are classified as non-current assets.

Investments held by the Company are held at cost less any impairment.

m Trade receivables

Trade receivables are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

n Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments

with original maturities of three months or less.

o Trade payables

Trade payables are stated at their nominal value.

p Employee Benefit Trust and Share Bonus Trust

The Employee Benefit Trust and Share Bonus Trust, which purchase and hold ordinary shares of the Company in connection with

employee share schemes, are included in the Company’s financial statements. Any consideration paid or received by the trusts for

the purchase or sale of the Company’s own shares is shown as a movement in shareholders’ equity.



37

an
n

u
al

rep
o

rt
an

d
fi

n
an

cial
statem

en
ts

2005

Notes to the Financial Statements

q Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past

event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material the

provision is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows. No provision is recognised for contingent liabilities if it is

not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle an obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot

be measured with sufficient reliability.

3 Segmental reporting
The group operates in one business segment; that of supply of software to financial institutions. For further details see the

Operations Review. The operations are monitored by the geographic regions of Europe, North America and Asia. Certain activities

and costs are managed and monitored centrally. Tax assets and liabilities and the intangible asset for product development

capitalised are excluded from segment assets and liabilities. The segment information in respect of the regions is presented below.

North

Europe America Asia Total

For the year ended 31st December 2005 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Segment revenue 40,391 23,754 10,089 74,234

Segment result 10,395 810 5,255 16,460

Product development amortised (4,373)

Central costs (2,458)

Operating profit 9,629

Capital additions 3,379 2,225 440 6,044

Depreciation and amortisation 1,966 1,665 125 3,756

Segment assets 36,676 12,840 5,302 54,818

Segment liabilities 13,559 6,557 1,108 21,224

North

Europe America Asia Total

For the year ended 31st December 2004 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Segment revenue 30,328 19,904 9,536 59,768

Segment result 6,010 2,127 5,908 14,045

Product development amortised (3,789)

Central costs (2,193)

Operating profit 8,063

Capital additions 2,079 1,847 308 4,234

Depreciation and amortisation 1,309 1,132 28 2,469

Segment assets 33,132 8,738 2,922 44,792

Segment liabilities 10,545 4,068 564 15,177
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4 Operating expenses
2005 2004

£’000 £’000

Staff costs – salaries 35,527 29,022

Staff costs – social security 3,625 2,757

Staff costs – share incentives 538 414

Total staff costs 39,690 32,193

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,604 2,433

Amortisation of intangible assets 152 36

Product development capitalised (5,418) (4,076)

Product development amortised 4,373 3,789

Auditor’s remuneration for the Company 35 40

Auditor’s remuneration for other companies in the Group 128 125

Fees paid to auditor for non-audit related work 60 45

Operating lease rentals – property 2,539 2,420

Operating lease rentals – plant and machinery 31 58

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 4 8

Exchange (gains)/losses (747) 340

Other operating expenses 20,748 14,982

Total operating expenses 65,199 52,393

Included in operating expenses are the direct costs of research and development of £10,534,000 (2004 £7,409,000), which includes

the amount capitalised above. Fees paid to the auditor in respect of non-audit work in the year are for preparation of tax returns

and tax compliance in certain regions and preparation of monthly payroll for one country.

5 Staff numbers
The average number of people employed by the Group during the year was as follows:

2005 2004

Number Number

Europe 338 290

North America 206 162

Asia 44 33

Total average staff numbers 588 485

At 31st At 31st

December December

2005 2004

Number Number

Technical 317 269

Product development 123 102

Sales and marketing 49 32

Management and admin 99 82

Total average staff numbers 588 485

The number of people employed by the Company during the year was 3 (2004 3), all management, and the staff costs were

£1,725,000 (2004 £1,574,000). 

Details of the directors’ emoluments and interests are included in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

6 Interest receivable
2005 2004

£’000 £’000

Interest receivable 877 915

Interest received on Touchpaper “A” and “B” Loan Notes 330 326

Capital repayment of Touchpaper “B” Loan Notes 500 500

Total interest receivable 1,707 1,741

In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, where the effective interest rate has been and is

still assessed as being zero, both capital and interest amounts received are recognised as income on receipt (see note 11 for further

explanation of the Touchpaper Loan Notes). 

7 Income tax expense
2005 2004

£’000 £’000

Current tax expense

Current year domestic 2,720 2,652

Current year foreign 953 449

Adjustments for prior years (1,492) (110)

Total current tax expense 2,181 2,991

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (120) 320

Benefit of tax losses recognised (821) (734)

Total deferred tax expense (941) (414)

Total income tax expense in income statement 1,240 2,577

2005 2005 2004 2004

Reconciliation of effective tax rate £’000 £’000

Profit before tax 11,336 9,802

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate 30% 3,401 30% 2,941

Effective tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (201) 10

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 148 253

Tax incentives (447) (367)

Utilisation of tax losses (19) –

Capital repayment not taxable (150) (150)

Adjustment relating to prior years (1,492) (110)

Tax expense and effective tax rate for the year 11% 1,240 26% 2,577

2005 2004

Tax recognised directly in equity £’000 £’000

Income tax credit relating to equity settled share incentives (39) (279)

Deferred tax (credit)/debit relating to equity settled share incentives (794) 240
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Notes to the Financial Statements

8 Earnings per share
Earnings per share have been calculated by dividing profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of shares

in issue during the year, details of which are below. The diluted earnings per share have been calculated using an average share

price of 587p (2004 495p) for the year. 

2005 2004

£’000 £’000

Profit attributable to shareholders 10,096 7,225

Less gain relating to capital repayment of Touchpaper “B” Loan Notes (500) (500)

Profit attributable to shareholders excluding gain 9,596 6,725

Less tax adjustment from prior years (1,492) –

Profit attributable to shareholders excluding gain and tax adjustment from prior years 8,104 6,725

2005 2004

Number ’000 Number ’000

Weighted average number of shares in issue 32,687 32,679

Weighted average number of shares held by the employee trusts (761) (909)

Shares used to calculate basic earnings per share 31,926 31,770

Dilution due to share options and warrants 691 686

Shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share 32,617 32,456

Basic earnings per share excluding gain and tax adjustment from prior years 25.4p 21.2p

Diluted earnings per share excluding gain and tax adjustment from prior years 24.8p 20.7p

Basic earnings per share from tax adjustment from prior years 4.7p –

Diluted earnings per share from tax adjustment from prior years 4.6p –

Basic earnings per share excluding capital repayment 30.1p 21.2p

Diluted earnings per share excluding capital repayment 29.4p 20.7p

Basic earnings per share on gain relating to capital repayment of Touchpaper “B” Loan Notes 1.5p 1.5p

Diluted earnings per share on gain relating to capital repayment of Touchpaper “B” Loan Notes 1.6p 1.6p

Basic earnings per share 31.6p 22.7p

Diluted earnings per share 31.0p 22.3p
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Notes to the Financial Statements

9 Property plant and equipment
Long

Furniture & leasehold

Total Equipment buildings Computers Vehicles

Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1st January 2004 14,372 4,222 497 9,496 157

Exchange adjustment (373) (102) (29) (242) –

Additions 4,043 1,298 – 2,730 15

Disposals (81) – – – (81)

At 1st January 2005 17,961 5,418 468 11,984 91

Exchange adjustment 856 309 50 497 –

Additions 5,641 2,041 – 3,564 36

Disposals (4,293) (495) – (3,722) (76)

Cumulative cost at 31st December 2005 20,165 7,273 518 12,323 51

Depreciation

At 1st January 2004 9,442 2,374 86 6,894 88

Exchange adjustment (200) (43) (5) (152) –

Charged in the year 2,433 646 15 1,750 22

Disposals (61) – – – (61)

At 1st January 2005 11,614 2,977 96 8,492 49

Exchange adjustment 459 110 11 338 –

Charged in the year 3,604 975 16 2,598 15

Disposals (4,269) (495) – (3,722) (52)

Cumulative depreciation at 31st December 2005 11,408 3,567 123 7,706 12

Carrying value

At 31st December 2005 8,757 3,706 395 4,617 39

At 31st December 2004 6,347 2,441 372 3,492 42

At 31st December 2003 4,930 1,848 411 2,602 69

The fixed assets of royalblue group plc are included in the above at a cost of £219,000 (1st January 2004 and 31st December 2004

£219,000) and accumulated depreciation of £209,000 (£124,000 at 1st January 2004 and £167,000 at 31st December 2004). During

the year there were no additions (2004 £2,000) and no disposals (2004 nil). The depreciation charge for the year was £42,000 

(2004 £42,000). 
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10 Intangible assets
Software 

Product purchased for 

Total development internal use

£’000 £’000 £’000

Carrying value at 1st January 2004 6,239 6,224 15

Additions 4,267 4,076 191

Amortisation (3,825) (3,789) (36)

Carrying value at 1st January 2005 6,681 6,511 170

Exchange adjustments 7 – 7

Additions 5,821 5,418 403

Amortisation (4,525) (4,373) (152)

Carrying value at 31st December 2005 7,984 7,556 428

11 Investments
Group and Company

In July 2001 the royalblue technologies help desk and call centre software business was divested, the business subsequently

changed its name to Touchpaper Group Limited (“Touchpaper”). Following the divestment, royalblue hold the following financial

assets in Touchpaper:

Preference shares

royalblue holds 17,000,000 redeemable preferences shares of 100p which are now redeemable at par on 31st January 2007 (or

later if mutually agreed, the redemption date previously being deferred from 31st January 2006) or in the event of an earlier sale,

for 25% of the sales proceeds of the Touchpaper business, to a maximum of £17,000,000. The redeemable preference shares carry

a cumulative coupon at an annual rate of 0.5%. The redeemable preference shares give royalblue no voting rights.  These are

classed as loans and receivables and held at amortised cost of nil being the fair value on initial recognition, and the directors have

assessed the effective interest rate as being zero.

Ordinary shares and warrants

royalblue holds 19% of the ordinary share capital of Touchpaper with the same voting rights as the other ordinary shareholders.

In addition, royalblue holds warrants over 1,275,000 ordinary shares in Touchpaper.  The warrant over ordinary shares would

represent up to a maximum of 51% of the diluted equity of Touchpaper when exercised. The warrants are exercisable only on 

the sale or listing of Touchpaper. Both ordinary shares and warrants in Touchpaper are classed as available for sale assets but are

measured at cost of nil (being their fair value on initial recognition) because their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The

range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reasonably assessed

due to the lack of financial information and the inherent uncertainty as to cash flows, therefore royalblue is precluded from

measuring the instrument at fair value.

‘A’ loan note

royalblue holds a £897,755 variable rate secured loan note. The loan note is scheduled to be repaid in three instalments between

31st July 2009 and 31st July 2011. Interest is payable in arrears at a rate of 4% per annum above base lending rates as set by

Barclays Bank plc. The loan note and interest is secured over certain assets of Touchpaper. The loan note has been classified as 

loan and receivables and is carried at amortised cost of £897,755 (being also their fair value on initial recognition).

‘B’ loan note

royalblue holds a £3,802,245 variable rate unsecured loan note. The loan note is repayable in annual instalments of £500,000

commencing in July 2002. Interest is payable in arrears at a rate of 4% per annum above base lending rates as set by Barclays Bank

plc. The loan note has been classified as loan and receivables and is carried at amortised cost of £nil being the fair value attributed

on initial recognition on divestment of Touchpaper. The effective interest rate is assessed as being zero. As at 31st December 2005

the outstanding capital was £1,802,245 (2004 £2,302,245). 
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11 Investments continued
Company

£’000

Investments at 1st January 2004 1,120

Divestment –

Addition –

Investments at 1st January 2005 1,120

Divestment –

Addition 14

Investments at 31st December 2005 1,134

The subsidiary undertakings and other trade investments at 31st December 2005, all being engaged in developing and selling

computer software and providing associated services, are in the table below. All principally operate in their country of incorporation.

Country of incorporation Proportion of ordinary share capital held

royalblue financial plc England and Wales 100%

royalblue software limited England and Wales 100%

royalblue investments limited England and Wales 100%

royalblue financial corporation USA 100%

royalblue software corporation USA 100%

royalblue financial limited Hong Kong 100%

royalblue financial kk Japan 100%

royalblue France SAS France 100%

royalblue corporation Canada 100%

Touchpaper Group Limited England and Wales 19%

12 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Group – Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Net Asset/(Liability)

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Property, plant and equipment 427 236 (23) – 404 236

Intangible assets 144 151 (2,271) (1,953) (2,127) (1,802)

Employee benefits 1,314 421 – – 1,314 421

Tax losses and allowances carried forward 1,918 967 – – 1,918 967

Interest income 90 91 – – 90 91

Other timing differences 302 127 – – 302 127

Tax assets/(liabilities) 4,195 1,993 (2,294) (1,953) 1,901 40

Set off of tax (1,030) – 1,030 – – –

Net tax assets/(liabilities) 3,165 1,993 (1,264) (1,953) 1,901 40
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12 Deferred tax assets and liabilities continued
Group – Movement during the year

Balance at 31st

Balance at 1st Translation Recognised in Recognised in December

January 2005 adjustment income equity 2005

Property, plant and equipment 236 (15) 183 – 404

Intangible assets (1,802) 16 (341) – (2,127)

Employee benefits 421 23 142 794 1,380

Tax losses and allowances carried forward 967 105 846 – 1,918

Interest income 91 – (1) – 90

Other timing differences 127 (3) 112 – 236

40 126 941 794 1,901

Balance at 31st

Balance at 1st Translation Recognised in Recognised in December

January 2004 adjustment income equity 2004

Property, plant and equipment 367 5 (136) – 236

Intangible assets (1,682) (11) (109) – (1,802)

Employee benefits 603 – 58 (240) 421

Tax losses and allowances carried forward 248 (15) 734 – 967

Interest income 90 – 1 – 91

Other timing differences 274 (13) (134) – 127

(100) (34) 414 (240) 40

The tax losses and allowances carried forward are expected to be utilised in future periods and have a life of 20 years.

Company – Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Net Asset/(Liability)

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Property, plant and equipment 4 5 – – 4 5

Interest income 90 91 – – 90 91

Tax assets/(liabilities) 94 96 – – 94 96
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12 Deferred tax assets and liabilities continued
Company – Movement during the year

Balance at 31st

Balance at 1st Recognised in Recognised in December

January 2005 income equity 2005

Property, plant and equipment 5 (1) – 4

Interest income 91 (1) – 90

96 (2) – 94

Balance at 31st

Balance at 1st Recognised in Recognised in December

January 2004 income equity 2004

Property, plant and equipment 2 3 – 5

Interest income 90 1 – 91

92 4 – 96

13 Trade and other receivables
Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade receivables 14,657 9,230 – –

Amount due from subsidiaries – – 3,483 258

Prepayments 1,639 1,379 1 7

Accrued revenue 1,262 1,346 – –

Other receivables 1,057 832 371 384

Total trade and other receivables 18,615 12,787 3,855 649

14  Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank balances 5,721 3,658 1,405 155

Call deposits 20,399 20,932 20,399 20,932

Total cash and cash equivalents 26,120 24,590 21,804 21,087
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15 Share capital and reserves
2005 2004 2005 2004

Number Number Number Number

Authorised ordinary shares of 10p each 43,600,000 43,600,000 4,360 4,360

Ordinary shares allotted, called up and fully paid at 1st January 32,679,465 32,679,465 3,268 3,268

Issued for share options exercised 40,086 – 4 –

Ordinary shares allotted, called up and fully paid at 31st December 32,719,551 32,679,465 3,272 3,268

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per

share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. 

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of

foreign operations.

Dividends paid and proposed

On 6th June 2005 the 2004 final dividend of 5.8 pence per share, £1,855,000, (2004: final dividend for 2003 of 6.15 pence per

share, £1,955,000, and a special dividend of 25.3 pence per share, £8,042,000) was paid. On 26th September 2005 the 2005 interim

dividend of 3.3 pence per share, £1,053,000, (2004: 2.7 pence per share, £858,000) was paid.

The directors propose a final dividend for 2005 of 7.0 pence per share, £2,236,000, payable on 5th June 2006, with an ex-dividend

date of 3rd May 2006. The dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been

included as a liability in these financial statements.

Employee share trusts

At 31st December 2005 the royalblue group plc Employee Benefit Trust 1997 owned 595,150 (2004 632,385) shares representing

1.8% of the issued capital. At 31st December 2005 the royalblue group plc Share Bonus Trust owned 183,112 (2004 137,569) shares

representing 0.6% of the issued capital.

16 Current liabilities; trade and other payables
Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade payables 1,640 1,989 74 83

Amount due to subsidiaries – – 269 258

Accrued expenses 9,064 6,176 322 208

Deferred revenue 8,327 5,337 – –

Other taxes and social security 1,645 1,347 707 558

Total trade and other payables 20,676 14,849 1,372 1,107
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17 Share-based payments
A full description of each type of share-based payment to employees is in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. All share incentives

are over ordinary shares of the Company. The Group grants share incentives to employees in the form of share options and share

bonuses. The fair value of all incentives granted since 7th November 2002 and not vested at 1st January 2005 is recognised as an

employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The employee expense is recognised equally over the time from grant

until vesting of the incentive. The employee expense in 2005 was £538,000 (2004: £414,000). The fair value has been measured

using a binomial model. The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility adjusted for any expected changes to future

volatility. The material inputs into the model have been:

Granted in Granted in Granted in

Share options 2003 2004 2005

Fair value 75.5p 166.9p 108.5p

Share price at grant 257.5p 560p 632p

Exercise price 257.5p 560p 632p

Expected volatility 35% 35% 20%

Expected life 6 years 6 years 6 years

Expected dividends 3.20% 3.20% 3.43%

Risk-free rate of return 4.35% 4.63% 4.13%

Awards in Awards in Awards in

Share bonuses 2003 2004 2005

Fair value 408.8p to 467.8p 367.9p to 467.8p 585.6p to 658.5p

Share price at purchase 450.0p to 515.0p 405.0p to 515.0p 649.2p to 730.0p

Expected volatility 35% 35% 20%

Expected life 3 years 3 years 3 years

Expected dividends 3.2% 3.2% 3.43%

Share options subsisting at 31st December 2005 were:

Options at Options at Vested at

Grant 1st January Exercised Expired 31st December Exercise 31st December Remaining

year 2005 in year in year New grants 2005 price (p) 2005 life

1999 103,850 (21,750) (1,200) – 80,900 535p 1-4 years

2000 77,100 (3,150) – 73,950 1285p 2-5 years

2001 152,032 (6,850) (15,200) – 129,982 612.5p 3-6 years

2002 545,070 (48,591) (26,120) – 470,359 252.5p 4-7 years

2003 610,468 – (42,856) – 567,612 257.5p 5-8 years

2004 430,050 – (27,775) – 402,275 560p 6-9 years

2005 – – (1,400) 425,650 424,250 560p 7-10 years

For all share options exercised in 2005 the weighted average share price at the time of exercise was 642p.

Included in the above table for the grant made in 2000 there are 30,000 share options relating to the Company. None were

exercised or expired in the period.
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17 Share-based payments continued
Potential share bonuses subsisting at 31st December 2005 were:

Outstanding at Outstanding at Vested at

Award 1st January Exercised Expired 31st December 31st December Remaining

year 2005 in year in year New awards 2005 2005 life

2003 63,465 – – – 63,465 – 1 year

2004 61,311 – – – 61,311 – 2 years

2005 – – – 41,310 41,310 – 3 years

Included in the above table are 24,444 shares in respect of 2003, 19,920 shares in respect of 2004 and 12,125 shares in respect of

2005 that relate to the Company.

In addition to the above, in September 2003 the Group granted nil-cost warrants over 600,000 ordinary shares to Merrill Lynch,

Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated. Each warrant has an exercise price of 550p. The warrants are valid for three years from the

date of grant. The market price of the shares at the date of grant was 472.5p.

18 Related party transactions
The Company has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries and with its directors and other members of key management.

There are no transactions with related parties who are not members of the Group.

The remuneration of individual directors is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. The remuneration of directors and

other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2005 2004

£’000 £’000

Short-term employee benefits 3,905 3,670

Equity compensation benefits 182 94

Total remuneration of directors and key management 4,087 3,764

The Company leases office premises and provides treasury management on behalf of Group companies in the UK. Rent and service

charges are charged at cost, £659,000 (2004 £538,000). All income arising from cash and cash equivalents is retained by the

Company.

19 Financial instruments
Exposure to credit and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. 

Credit risk

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.  The Group does not

require collateral in respect of financial assets (except the Touchpaper ‘A’ Loan Notes – see note 11).

Cash investments are allowed only in liquid securities and only with major financial institutions that satisfy certain credit criteria. 

At the balance sheet date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is

represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.
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19 Financial instruments continued
Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and cash balances that are denominated in a currency other than

Sterling. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily US dollars, Euros, Japanese Yen and Hong Kong dollars. 

In managing currency risks the Group aims to reduce the impact on short-term fluctuations on the Group’s cash inflows and

outflows in a foreign currency. The Group has not entered into hedging contracts for either cash or net investment positions

denominated in foreign currencies. Over the longer term, however, permanent changes in foreign exchange would have an impact

on consolidated earnings.

It is estimated that that a general increase of one percentage point in the value Sterling against other currencies would have

decreased the Group’s profit before tax by approximately £135,000 for the year ended 31st December 2005 (2004: £50,000).

Fair values

There is no significant difference between the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet and the fair values of the Group and

Company’s financial instruments. For current trade and other receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the

nominal amount is deemed to reflect the fair value. As explained in note 11, it is not possible to estimate the fair value of the

equity investments in Touchpaper.

20 Operating leases
At 31st December the Group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

2005 2004

£’000 £’000

Less than one year 160 185

Between one and five years 4,300 4,562

More than five years 11,071 12,362

Total commitment under operating leases 15,531 17,109

The Group leases office space and data centre facilities under operating leases. The lease term typically ranges from three years to

ten years. Lease terms of greater than five years are often subject a rent review during the term.

One of the leased properties has been partly sublet by the Group. The lease expires in December 2012 and the subleases expire in

May 2009 and December 2012. Sublease receipts of £2,818,000 are expected during the remainder of the subleases.

21 Contingent liability
As disclosed in the Operations Review, Lava Trading Inc. has filed a patent infringement claim in the US against the Group. The

eventual outcome of this case is uncertain and no provision has been made. The potential financial effect and possibility of flows

of economic benefits cannot be determined.

22 Accounting estimates and judgements
The future value attributable to the investments and loan notes in Touchpaper (note 11 above) is dependent on the future

performance of that business over which the Directors have no influence.
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23 Explanation of transition to IFRS
These are the Company’s and the Group’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs. The 

accounting policies referred to in note 2 have been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31st December 2005, the comparative information for the year ended 31st December 2004 and the preparation of an opening IFRS

balance sheet at 1st January 2004, the Company’s and the Group’s date of transition to IFRS.

In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet and comparative information for the year ended 31st December 2004, the Company

and the Group have adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements prepared in accordance with UK GAAP.

An explanation of how the transition from UK GAAP to IFRS has affected the Company’s and the Group’s financial position and

financial performance is set out in the following tables and notes accompanying them. There have been no changes to the

Company’s or the Group’s cash flows as a result of the transition.

Group Company

31st December 1st January 31st December 1st January

2004 2004 2004 2004

Equity as at: Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Total equity reported under UK GAAP 26,753 21,525 20,599 16,999

Intangible assets; product development capitalised a 6,511 6,224 – –

Deferred tax liability; product development capitalised a (1,953) (1,867) – –

Staff benefits; share-based payments b (22) (93) 17 –

Deferred tax asset; share-based payments b 370 570 – –

Dividends payable c 1,851 9,941 1,851 9,941

Total equity reported under IFRS 33,510 36,300 22,467 26,940

Group Company

31st December 1st January

2004 2004

For the period: Note £’000 £’000

Profit for the period reported under UK GAAP 7,607 5,773

Product development; capitalisation and amortisation a 287 –

Product development; change in tax charge a (86) –

Share-based payments; expensed in the income statement b (343) –

Share-based payments; change in tax charge in the income statement b (240) –

Profit for the period reported under IFRS 7,225 5,773

An explanation of how the transition from UK GAAP to IFRS has affected the Group’s earnings per share for the 12 months to 

31st December 2004 is in the table below.

Effect of 

transition

Under UK GAAP to IFRS IFRS

Basic earnings per share 23.9p (1.2p) 22.7p

Diluted earnings per share 23.4p (1.1p) 22.3p



51

an
n

u
al

rep
o

rt
an

d
fi

n
an

cial
statem

en
ts

2005

Notes to the Financial Statements

23 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
a Research and development; IAS 38 Intangible Assets

Under UK GAAP all expenditure on research and development was expensed as incurred. Under IFRS, research expenditure is

recognised as an expense as incurred but costs incurred on product development are capitalised as intangible assets when it is

probable that the development will provide economic benefit, considering its commercial and technological feasibility,

resources are available for the development and costs can be measured reliably. Other development expenditures are

recognised as an expense as incurred. Capitalised product development expenditure is amortised over the expected useful life.

A deferred tax liability arises on the product development expenditure that has been capitalised.

b Employee benefits; IFRS2 Share-based Payment and IAS 19 Employee Benefits

The primary change is that IFRS2 requires that the fair value for share incentives to employees be estimated and charged to

the income statement over the vesting period of the incentive. This only applies to share incentives granted and awarded since

November 2002 and not vested at 1st January 2005. The standard also requires that the potential tax benefit to employing

companies from share incentives being exercised in the future be recorded as a deferred tax asset based on the intrinsic value

of all the incentives at the balance sheet date. Tax charges and credits are only reflected in the income statement for incentives

granted after November 2002 for which the fair value is charged to the income statement.

c Dividends payable

Under IFRS dividends are charged to the income statement when paid or approved and not in the period to which they relate

as required previously by UK GAAP. This typically results in dividends being deducted from equity in a later period.



52

an
n

u
al

re
p

o
rt

an
d

fi
n

an
ci

al
st

at
em

en
ts

20
05

Notice of Meeting royalblue group plc

Notice is hereby given that the tenth Annual General Meeting of royalblue group plc (“the Company”) will be held at 2 Suffolk Lane,

London EC4R 0AT on 25th April 2006 at 9.30 a.m. for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business

1 To receive the financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2005 together with the reports of the directors and auditors

thereon.

2 To declare a final dividend of 7.0p per ordinary share of the Company.

3 To consider, and if thought fit, to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 31st December 2005.

4 To re-elect Mr CJ Aspinwall as a Director of the Company.

5 To re-appoint KPMG Audit Plc as the Company’s auditors and authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of the auditors.

Special Business

6 To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution: to authorise the directors generally and

unconditionally pursuant to Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 to allot relevant securities up to an aggregate nominal amount

of £1,079,745.10 provided that this authority unless renewed shall expire on the fifth anniversary of the passing of this resolution,

such authority being in substitution for any existing authority to allot relevant securities of the Company but so as to enable the

Company before such date to make offers or agreements which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after

such expiry and the directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority conferred

hereby had not expired and this resolution shall cancel and replace all unexercised authorities to allot relevant securities. (Please

see note 5.)

7 To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a Special Resolution: to empower the Directors in accordance with

Section 95 of the Companies Act 1985, until the earlier of the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and

fifteen months from the date of the resolution, to make allotments of equity securities (as construed in accordance with section 94 of

the Companies Act 1985) for cash pursuant to the authority that was conferred on the Directors by Resolution 6 above as if section

89(1) of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, such power being limited to the allotment of equity securities:

a) in connection with an issue or offer by way of rights in favour of holders of equity securities and of any other person entitled

to participate in such issue or offering where the equity securities respectively attributable to the interests of such holders and

persons are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective number of equity securities held or deemed to be held by

them on the record date of such allotment or are otherwise in accordance with their respective entitlements, subject only to

such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may deem fit to deal with fractional entitlements or problems arising

under the laws of any overseas territory or the requirements of any regulatory authority or any stock exchange; and

b) otherwise than pursuant to paragraph (a) above, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £163,597.75;

save that the Company may, before expiry of that authority, make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity

securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities pursuant to any such offer or agreement as

if such authority had not expired. (Please see Note 6.)
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8 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a Special Resolution: that the Company be and is hereby

generally and unconditionally authorised for the purpose of section 166 of the Companies Act 1985 to make one or more market

purchases (as defined in section 163 of the said Act) of ordinary shares of 10p each in the capital of the Company provided that:

(i) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 3,271,955 (representing approximately 10 per

cent. of the Company's issued ordinary share capital at the date of the Notice of this Meeting);

(ii) the minimum price which may be paid for an ordinary share is 10p per share (excluding expenses) being the nominal amount

thereof;

(iii) the maximum price (excluding expenses) which may be paid for an ordinary share shall be 5 per cent. above the average of the

middle market quotation of an ordinary share of the Company taken from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for

the five business days immediately preceding the date on which the purchase is made;

(iv) the authority hereby conferred shall (unless previously renewed or revoked) expire on the earlier of the conclusion of the next

Annual General Meeting of the Company and the date which is eighteen months after the date on which this resolution is

passed; and

(v) the Company may make a contract or contracts to purchase ordinary shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the

expiry of such authority which will or may be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such authority, and may make a

purchase of ordinary shares in pursuance of any such contract or contracts as if the authority conferred hereby had not

expired. (Please see Note 7.)

By order of the Board Registered Office:

Dukes Court

S Freeman Duke Street

Secretary Woking

10th February 2006 Surrey

GU21 5BH
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Notes

1 Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the time by which a person must be entered in the

register of members in order to have the right to attend or vote at the Annual General Meeting is 9.30 a.m. on 23rd April 2006. If

the meeting is adjourned, the time by which a person must be entered on the register of members in order to have the right to

attend or vote at the adjourned meeting is 48 hours prior to the time fixed for the adjourned meeting. Changes to entries on the

register of members after the relevant time will be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the

meeting. 

2 A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and (on a poll) vote

instead of him or her. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. To be valid a proxy form must be lodged with the registrars

not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.

3 The appointment of a proxy does not preclude a member from attending the meeting and voting in person, in which case any

votes of the proxy will be superseded.

4 Copies of the contracts of service between the Directors and the Company are available for inspection at the registered office of

the Company during each business day and will be available for inspection at 2 Suffolk Lane, London for 15 minutes prior to and

during the Annual General Meeting. The register of interests of Directors and their families in the shares of the Company will be

available for inspection at the commencement of, and during, the Annual General Meeting.

5 Section 80 Companies Act 1985: This Ordinary Resolution, if approved, will authorise the Directors to allot shares with an

aggregate nominal amount of up to £1,079,745.10 (representing 33% of the issued share capital at 10 February 2006) for a period

of five years. This authority succeeds that granted in 2002. The Directors have no present intention of exercising this authority. 

6 Section 89(1) Companies Act 1985: this Special Resolution will, if approved, partially disapply the statutory pre-emption rights for a

period of fifteen months or, if earlier, until the end of the 2007 Annual General Meeting, in order to provide the Directors with a

limited power to issue equity securities for cash otherwise than pro rata to ordinary shareholders, which following the

introduction of the Companies (Acquisition of Own Shares) (Treasury Shares) Regulations 2003 now extends to the sale of shares

from treasury. The existing power to this effect will expire at the end of this year’s Annual General Meeting. The resolution

conforms with the guidelines of the Investment Committee of the Association of British Insurers and the National Association of

Pension Funds and, if approved, will maintain the flexibility for the Company to allot relevant securities for cash either by way of a

rights issue or up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £163, 597.75, representing 5% of the issued share capital at the

date of the Notice of this Meeting.

7 The existing power to this effect will expire at the end of this year’s Annual General Meeting. The ordinary shares purchased

pursuant to this Special Resolution will be either cancelled on buy-back or held in treasury. No more than 10% of the issued share

capital may be held in treasury. The Directors only intend to exercise this power if they believe that it would increase earnings per

share and would be in the best interests of shareholders generally, or in the case of creation of treasury shares, that to do so

would be in the interests of shareholders generally. 
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Form of Proxy royalblue group plc

I/We the undersigned, being a member / members of royalblue group plc (hereinafter called “the Company”), hereby appoint the 

Chairman of the Meeting or ………………………………………………………………… as my / our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our

behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be held on 25th April 2006 at 9.30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We direct my/our proxy to vote on the resolutions as set out in the Notice convening the Annual General Meeting as follows:

Resolutions For Against

1 Receive the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements

2 Declare a final dividend of 7.0 pence per ordinary share

3 Approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report

4 Re-elect Mr CJ Aspinwall as a Director

5 Re-appoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditors and authorise the Directors to fix the 

remuneration of the auditors

6 Authorise the Directors to allot shares

7 Disapply the statutory pre-emption rights

8 Approve the purchase and cancellation of up to 10.% of the issued ordinary share capital

Signed this....................................................................................... day of ........................................................................................ 2006

Member’s name .............................................................................. Member’s signature...........................................................................

Address ...........................................................................................................................................................................................................

........................................................................................................................................................................................................................

Notes on completing the Form of Proxy

1 Please complete this form legibly in block capitals.

2 To appoint a person(s) other than the Chairman as your proxy, insert the name of the proxy or proxies desired and delete the words “the Chairman of the Meeting”. 

3 Please indicate how you want your proxy to vote by marking the appropriate box opposite each resolution. If neither box is marked, your proxy may vote or abstain as he/she

thinks fit. The appointment of a proxy does not preclude a member from attending and voting at the meeting in person.

4 This form of proxy must be signed by the appointer or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation it must be executed under its common

seal or, be signed by an officer or attorney duly authorised by the corporation.

5 In the case of joint holders only one needs to sign the form. The vote of the senior holder who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, will be accepted to the

exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders. Seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of the joint holders stand in the register of members.

6 To be valid a proxy form and the power or other authority under which it has been executed (or a copy of such power or authority certified notarially) must be lodged with

the Company’s registrars not less than 48 hours before the time of the meeting. 

(in block letters)
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Financial Calendar
13th February 2006

2005 annual results announced

21st February 2006

Extraordinary General Meeting 

regarding share option schemes

13th March 2006

2005 Annual Report circulated

25th April 2006

Annual General Meeting

5th June 2006

final dividend paid

July 2006

2006 interim results announced

September 2006

interim dividend paid

February 2007

2006 annual results announced

royalblue provides a range of applications known
collectively as Fidessa. 
Fidessa is a world leading solution for trading systems, market data and
global connectivity. Available as a simple workstation or as an integrated
application suite, Fidessa is built on the clear vision of providing the richest
functionality, coverage and distribution to all tiers of the financial community.

Trading Systems
The Fidessa application suite covers a wide range of features targeted at
both buy-side and sell-side clients. The key business benefit is seamless
straight through processing (STP) from order entry to trade confirmation.
With real-time position keeping, exposure and risk monitoring and
program and basket support, Fidessa’s comprehensive functionality is
unrivalled in the marketplace.

Market Data
Core to any trading solution is good quality reference data and timely,
accurate market data. Fidessa provides real-time coverage of global
markets along with supporting information such as news, fundamentals
and charts. Powerful display and analysis tools are incorporated within 
the Fidessa suite providing fully integrated access to this data.

Global Connectivity
The connectivity demands in the marketplace are unrelenting and ever-
expanding. Fidessa’s global network provides connectivity to receive
order-flow from clients, send IOIs, trade on global Exchanges and route
orders to a myriad of destinations including agency-brokers, local DMA
brokers, ECNs, RSPs and algorithmic trading services. 

Delivered through a thin-client Workstation, as a Hosted application suite
or on a bespoke Enterprise basis, Fidessa is the benchmark and product-
of-choice for over a hundred financial institutions throughout Europe, 
North America and Asia.
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